
Safer and Stronger Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Monday 15 January 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the Meeting held 31 October 2017  (Pages 3 - 14)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
6. Media Relations  
7. County Durham Road Safety Partnership:  (Pages 15 - 18)

   (i) Report of the Director of Transformations and Partnerships.
   (ii) Presentation by Dave Wafer, Strategic Traffic Manager and Chair of 

the Road Safety Reduction Partnership.
8. 20mph Speed Limits and Project Update:  (Pages 19 - 28)

   (i) Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.
   (ii) Presentation by the Head of Technical Services and the Traffic Asset 

Manager, Regeneration and Local Services.
9. Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) Three-Year Plan Consultation:  

(Pages 29 - 64)
(i) Report of the Chief Fire Officer, County Durham and Darlington Fire 

and Rescue Service.
(ii) Presentation from the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 

Service.



10. Quarter 2 2017/18 Performance Management Report:  (Pages 65 - 80)
   Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.

11. Police and Crime Panel:  
   Verbal update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, 
   Transformation and Partnerships

12. Overview and Scrutiny Review Update - Cybercrime:  
   Verbal update by Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer,  
   Transformation and Partnerships.

13. Safe Durham Partnership Update:  (Pages 81 - 86)
   Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of 
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  5 January 2018

To: The Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Councillor D Boyes (Chairman)
Councillor H Liddle (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors B Avery, A Bainbridge, J Charlton, J Considine, R Crute, S Durham, 
D Hall, C Hampson, S Iveson, L Kennedy, J Maitland, E Mavin, J Nicholson, 
A Patterson, J Stephenson, D Stoker, K Thompson, J Turnbull and C Wilson

Co-opted Members: Mr A J Cooke and Mr J Welch

Co-opted Employees/Officers: Chief Fire Officer S Errington and 
Chief Superintendent A Green

Contact: Martin Tindle Tel: 03000 269 713



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 31 October 2017 at 9.30 
am

Present:

Councillor D Boyes (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors B Avery, A Bainbridge, J Charlton, J Considine, R Crute, C Hampson, 
S Iveson, L Kennedy, H Liddle, J Maitland, J Nicholson, A Patterson, J Stephenson, 
D Stoker, K Thompson and J Turnbull

Co-opted Members:
Mr A J Cooke and Mr J Welch

Co-opted Employees/Officers:
Chief Fire Officer S Errington

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S Durham, E Mavin, C Wilson and 
Chief Superintendent A Green.

2 Substitute Members 

No notification of Substitute Members had been received.

3 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held 22 September 2017 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Jonathan Slee noted information in terms of a press 
release relating to a road safety campaign had been circulated.  It was added that the 
Strategic Manager, County Durham Youth Offending Service would be in attendance at 
the February meeting to give a further update and that additional information in relation to 
the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 had also been circulated. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



4 Declarations of Interest 

Councillors B Avery, D Stoker and J Turnbull declared an interest in Item 9, Progress of 
recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny Review of Home Safety - Safe and 
Wellbeing Visits as Members of the County Durham and Darlington Fire Authority.

5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.

6 Media Relations 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred Members to the recent prominent articles and 
news stories relating to the remit of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (for copy see file of minutes).  The articles included a cybercrime 
related article – “Do you know who’s hacking into your details? The scourge of cybercrime 
is trapping thousands”, and noted this tied in with the work of the Working Group.  It was 
added that 2 to 8 October was Home Fire Safety Week 2017, linking to the item on Safe 
and Wellbeing Visits and the Safe Durham Partnership.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer noted a third article, from the Council’s website, referred to a project to tackle 
violence against women and girls which had received £310,000, looking to work with 
perpetrators to prevent reoffending.

Resolved:

That the presentation be noted.

7 Progress of recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny Review of 
Organised Crime 

The Chairman introduced DCI Dave Aston from Durham Constabulary to give a 
presentation to update Members on progress following the Overview and Scrutiny Review 
of Organised Crime (for copy see file of minutes).

DCI Dave Aston reminded Members of the development of Local Profiles with partners to 
get the best picture in terms of Organised Crime Groups (OCGs).  Members noted that the 
Home Office definition was: “Serious crime that is: planned; coordinated; conducted by 
people working together on a continuing basis”.  It was added that while in the majority of 
cases the motivation is financial, it was not always, for example cybercrime or sexual 
exploitation. 

The Committee noted that the reason to tackle OCGs was to reduce the harm, and with 
diminishing resources it was important to tackle those offenders causing the most harm, 
with OCGs “industrialising” crime.  It was explained that it was important to be able to 
tackle the misery caused: drug dealing and the burden on the Health Service; fraud and 
the psychological harm caused to victims; child sexual exploitation (CSE).  DCI Dave 
Aston added that it was also important to intervene early, working with partners, to lessen 
the financial impact.

Page 4



DCI Dave Aston referred Members to a diagram setting out the Local Profile Map, adding 
that there were now 34 rather than 30 OCGs, with the majority linked to drugs and 
violence, and with around half involved in money laundering.  It was added that there had 
been some concern around a year ago that there was no map in terms of modern slavery 
or CSE, it was noted that was now mapped and referred to regional colleagues.  DCI Dave 
Aston noted that Officers were not complacent and worked hard to uncover the hidden 
aspects of OCGs.

Members noted that there had been 12 drug related deaths last year.  DCI Dave Aston 
noted an emerging trend of mixing the usual drugs with the opioid painkiller fentanyl, 
adding that while no deaths had been attributed to this in our area, this was an issue 
Officers were alert to.  The Committee noted that the supply of cocaine and heroin 
continued to be the main sources of revenue for those OCGs dealing in illegal drugs, with 
the cultivation and sale of cannabis also being undertaken.  It was added that there was a 
strong correlation between illegal drug sales and violence, in terms of intimidation within 
the market.  It was noted while there were some pockets of crack cocaine use within the 
force area, these were isolated and the issue was not a large one at the moment, though it 
was an area Officers were keeping an eye on.

Councillor J Charlton entered the meeting at 9.44am

In terms of modern slavery and human trafficking, DCI Dave Aston explained that the main 
area was in terms of labour exploitation with sexual exploitation being also an issue, the 
latter being very much internet based with locations moving week on week.  It was 
acknowledged that there were gaps in knowledge and that work was needed to 
understand the scale of the issue.  DCI Dave Aston noted that often people were at risk 
due to the working and living conditions, and there were barriers in terms of reporting.

The Committee noted that in terms of CSE and abuse, 63% of sexual offences were 
against children and victims could become perpetrators/facilitators.  DCI Dave Aston 
added that with the advancement of digital technology 83% was online, and that in order to 
tackle these issues, cooperation with schools, families and communities was important.

Members were reminded of the types of environmental crimes that OCGs carried out, 
including a new trend for illegally dumped baled waste, made to look like hay bales and 
then illegally dumped in rural areas.  This can result in significant clear up costs for the 
Local Authority, Environment Agency and landowners.  DCI Dave Aston noted there had 
been 8 incidents last year, and that working with partners from the Fire Service, Local 
Authority, Environment Agency and colleagues from Cleveland Police the issues had been 
tackled, and since March 2017 there had been no further incidents.

It was explained in terms of violence, the area had a high proportion when compared to 
others, with 21 violent groups.  It was noted that some were linked to Traveller 
communities and also to the use of weapons.  DCI Dave Aston noted that the reluctance to 
report violence was an issue and in terms of weapons there were very few firearms 
discharges per year in our area.  It was noted that however there was still a need to 
respond effectively and a number of levers, including citing safeguarding issues, were 
used to ensure there was a fear to possess or use firearms.

DCI Dave Aston referred Members to “County Lines”, urban based OCGs that would look 
to supply smaller towns or rural areas with illegal drugs.  It was explained that it often 
involved the use of children or vulnerable people to supply local dealers.  

Page 5



Members learned that a “hot-line” would be set up to allow the controllers to set up 
transactions without having to have any “hands on” involvement.  Councillors noted that it 
could also involve debt bondage and issues of CSE.  It was noted this had not yet been 
seen within the County, however it was important to raise awareness.

DCI Dave Aston explained to the Committee the very effective Partnership Disruption and 
Intervention Panel, working with various partners who were all keen to disrupt OCGs as 
much as possible.  Members noted coordinate strikes on sites, with several agencies 
working together.  He added that a lot of other Police Forces visited the County to see how 
we operated, however, there was no complacency and all partners worked hard together 
to tackle OCGs.

The Chairman thanked DCI Dave Aston and asked Members for their comments and 
questions.

Mr AJ Cooke noted that the increases in the cost of living may lead to some people being 
drawn in and having their lives ruined.  DCI Dave Aston noted that the Police were aware 
of the hierarchies that existed, with some at the bottom being victimised.  He reminded 
Members of the Checkpoint programme, and how this could look at the critical path that 
led an individual to offend.  The Committee noted that if a root cause can be identified then 
offenders could work with Checkpoint Navigators and if they were able to complete their 
programme, then they would not be prosecuted.  It was explained that should the 
programme was not adhered to then the offender would proceed to court and prosecution.  
DCI Dave Aston noted that there were also a number of other programmes, some looking 
at preventing breeding grounds for OCGs, for example with the “Mini Police”, and in 
communities in terms of developing skills.

Councillor J Maitland asked if in terms of the baled waste, could there not be a trace in 
terms of the packaging used.  DCI Dave Aston noted that at waste management 
processing tracking and forensic evidence can be gathered.  He added that some HGVs 
were found to be used and some arrests had been made, and also that another element 
was to undertake preventative work.

The Chairman asked how Councillors could help directly.  DCI Dave Aston noted by 
utilising their local Neighbourhood Inspector and Community Support Teams, together with 
channels such as the Police and Communities Together (PACT) meetings.  He added it 
was possible to leave details via the 101 number and/or with partner agencies such as the 
Council’s Trading Standards or Environment Agency.  DCI Dave Aston stressed that if an 
issues was sensitive they could contact Police Headquarters, however, if an issue was 
sufficiently serious, the usual emergency 999 telephone number would be the appropriate 
method as to pass on the details.

Mr J Welch asked, given that the time of year and the darker nights, was there a link to the 
season and illegal works such as the waste bales as previously described.  DCI Dave 
Aston noted this was not an area he had looked at personally, and the Senior Partnership 
Officer, Graham McArdle noted that there was not a clear indication with such crimes all 
year round.

The Chairman asked, in terms newer areas of crime for our area, for example cybercrime 
and human trafficking, was there the capacity to be able to deal with issues within the 
Constabulary.  DCI Dave Aston noted that there was capacity, though with a need to flex 
and look at what areas represented the biggest threats or presented the most harm.  

Page 6



It was noted that the most serious cybercrime “threats” would likely be from abroad and 
that this would then be an issue for the National Crime Agency (NCA) to look at.  In terms 
of the more domestic cybercrime activities, they usually were based around a scam that 
would look for human error to allow criminals access.  It was noted that education was 
important and that especially for the more vulnerable in our communities.

Councillor D Stoker noted that there had been many scams in the recent past in terms of 
callers claiming to be your internet service provider asking you to “just log on”.  He added 
in the past it was possible to see the number was suspect, however recently criminals 
have been able to buy “local codes” such that call that originated in a foreign country could 
appear to be from Nottingham for example.  DCI Dave Aston noted that these types of 
criminal were very polished and often very plausible, always looking to exploit any 
loophole and urged people to be super-cautious if the call was unsolicited.

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred to the review group’s recommendations as set 
out in Appendix 2 to the report.  He reminded Members of the work of the relevant partners 
having help deliver the Local Profiles Document and the importance of community 
confidence in reporting.

Members noted Recommendation 4, and the Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Council and the Environment Agency had been completed, with intelligence being key.  
Members noted training and awareness raising sessions that had been held with Area 
Action Partnerships (AAPs) and Overview and Scrutiny, with the Council’s Chief Internal 
Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager and Corporate Procurement looking at the risk to 
the Authority by OCGs, and on how to spot the signs.

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted that Members were asked to agree the work as 
complete, with no requirement for further updates upon the review recommendations. 

Resolved:

(i) That the report and presentation be noted.
(ii) That the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee note 

no further require for updates upon the review recommendations.

8 Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment 2017 and Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 2018-21 Priorities 

The Chairman introduced the Partnership Manager, Julie Bradbrook and the Senior 
Partnership Officer, Graham McArdle to give a presentation on the Safe Durham 
Partnership Strategic Assessment 2017 and Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) Plan 2018-
21 Priorities (for copy see file of minutes).

The Senior Partnership Officer noted that the headline statistic was that overall crime had 
increased by 28%, however, added it was important to understand why.  Members were 
reminded of the excellent reputation of Durham Constabulary and their accurate recording 
of crime, capturing a true picture of what was happening.  It was added that this should 
also be understood in the total number of crimes and that for County Durham this was 
lower than the England and Wales average, and significantly lower than the North East 
average.  The Committee noted that there was close work with the Police in terms of the 
evidence base.

Page 7



The Partnership Manager noted that there were a number of draft priorities for 2017/18, 
with the first being to “protect vulnerable people from harm”, including from domestic 
abuse, sexual violence and hate crime.  It was explained that there was a need to help 
provide confidence in terms of reporting of those crimes and that a figure of 202 hate 
crimes was felt to represent a vast underreporting of these crimes.

The Senior Partnership Officer noted another priority was “reducing reoffending”, looking 
to prevent repeat offending and prevent intergenerational offending.  Members noted that 
there was work with the Police, Victims’ and Crime Commissioner (PCVC) in terms of 
looking at pathways out of offending and that partners would be able to understand the 
pathways in order to be help direct individuals to try and prevent reoffending.

The Partnership Manager explained that there was a priority in terms of Counter Terrorism 
and the Prevention of Violent Extremism, and while this may appear to be a more national 
issue, there was a need to raise awareness and to know what to look out for and what to 
do.  It was added that there would be work within schools, looking at vulnerable groups, 
training for a range of partners and briefings for AAPs and Members.  The Senior 
Partnership Officer noted that the Home Office had visited Durham and had been 
impressed in terms of Prevent and with the engagement in all mainstream schools.  He 
noted that the work could not stop, and there would need to be updates at schools in terms 
of prevent and intervention.

The Senior Partnership Officer noted “Alcohol and substance misuse harm reduction” was 
a priority, noting the connection to most crime and with 95% of the Integrated Offender 
Management cohort having a drug problem.

The Partnership Manager explained a further priority was “promote being safe and feeling 
safe in your environment” and this included a number areas including: safe and wellbeing 
visits; open water safety; road casualty reduction; and anti-social behaviour.  Members 
were reminded that a target approach was used in County Durham and this helped in 
being able to address local issues.

The Senior Partnership Officer noted “Cybercrime” was a priority, noting that it was 
important to raise awareness about staying safe online, to target preventative work 
towards reducing the risk to the most vulnerable, and to support local businesses to build 
resilience to cyber threats.  It was noted there were around 6 million cybercrimes each 
year in the context to 6 million “traditional” crimes nationally and it was emerging as a 
growing and significant issue.  Members noted that a recently held sessions as regards 
issues of cybercrime, Prevent and CSE had 260 people attend, with many professionals 
who were very much attuned to these issues and the vulnerable people they worked with.  
The Senior Partnership Officer explained that in respect of elderly and vulnerable people, 
assistance could be given in terms of telephone blocking or diverting to another family 
member, noting that technology could help in terms of nuisance calling.

The Partnership Manager explained that next steps would include: the draft Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 2018-21 being presented to the SDP to agree wider consultation in 
January 2018; the consultation to be held January-February 2018 with the AAPs and the 
Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and the final version 
of the Plan to be presented to the SDP for agreement in March 2018.  It was noted that the 
Committee were being asked: “were the strategic priorities in relation to community safety 
correct”; and “were there any gaps”.

Page 8



The Chairman thanked the Partnership Manager and the Senior Partnership Officer and 
asked Members for their comments and questions.

Mr J Welch asked if it was possible to block e-mail similar to the call blocking described.  
The Senior Partnership Officer noted he was not sure, however he could look into the 
issue.  Mr J Welch and Councillor L Kennedy asked as regards the phone system, and 
how it was advertised.  The Senior Partnership Officer noted the scheme was ran via Age 
UK and the funding had been provided by the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner.

Councillor L Kennedy noted that there appeared to be a rise in “unclassified” crimes and 
asked if this was due to how they were recorded.  The Senior Partnership Officer noted he 
could come back to Members, noting that a shift had been made in terms how anti-social 
behaviour and harassment were recorded.  Councillor L Kennedy asked how the £300,000 
fund in relation to domestic abuse was accessed.  The Senior Partnership Officer noted 
the contact Officer would be the Public Health Portfolio Lead, Tammy Ross within the 
Public Health Service.

Councillor L Kennedy noted that often when issues of anti-social behaviour were reported, 
there was not much in terms of feedback on actions and outcomes and asked how this 
could be improved.  The Chairman noted that this was important to be able to give 
confidence in the systems in place and to encourage people to report matters.  The Senior 
Partnership Officer noted that a lot of good work was done by the SDP and there was a 
need to be able to get into communities more to test on this.  Councillor L Kennedy noted 
that even a simple text message back would be a help.

Councillor A Bainbridge left the meeting at 10.32am

Mr AJ Cooke noted the good work in terms of County Durham and Darlington’s force area 
and asked if there was a comparison to others, or a national standard.  The Senior 
Partnership Officer explained that Durham had a 28% increase in crime, Greater 
Manchester had a 2% increase.  It was added that Durham was one of the best forces in 
terms of recording crime and that as other forces also improved, the picture would become 
clearer.  The Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised Members that the Police and Crime 
Panel received feedback from the PCVC following inspections from Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) to which a future inspection report would include 
crime recording. 

Mr AJ Cooke noted he had one of the call blockers as described installed and it had been 
beneficial. Councillor A Patterson added caution that information received at another 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee that blocking devices had prevented some calls from 
services such as Housing Benefit.

The Chief Fire Officer asked if there could be further explanation to the significant change 
in the accuracy of crime recording in comparison to 2015.  The Senior Partnership Officer 
noted that accuracy had improved and had improved year on year over the last 10 years.  
The Chief Fire Officer noted that this context would be useful for the Committee to be able 
to see the difference in the accuracy of the figures, and the figures together, to be able to 
understand where issues are and how they have changed over time.

Councillor J Maitland asked what crimes would be classified under “unclassified”.  The 
Senior Partnership Officer noted that it was a small number 219, and would look to find 
this information and get back to the Overview and Scrutiny Officer.

Page 9



Councillor J Turnbull noted anti-social behaviour at North Road in Durham City, with 
regular issues at the bus station and asked why this did not seem to be picked up.  
Councillor K Thompson noted approaches to feeding back information to the Police 
through Police and Communities Together (PACT) meetings.  Councillor D Stoker 
commented that as other Members had stated it was important to get feedback for 
reporting of issues from Durham Constabulary but it was also important to get feedback 
from the Council too.

Councillor A Patterson commented that areas, such as anti-social behaviour, open water 
safety and road traffic safety, could be promoted more, to include “protection”. The 
Chairman added that arson had seen a significant increase and felt that this should have 
more significance at the Partnership Priorities.  The Chairman reminded Members that 
they could have further opportunity to feed in and to contact the Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer with any further comments.

Resolved:

(i) That the report and presentation be noted.
(ii) That a response to the Safe Durham Partnership containing comments from the 

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the draft 
strategic objectives be sent to the  Safe Durham Partnership Board. 

(iii) That the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
receive a further presentation in relation to the Safe Durham Partnership Plan in 
February 2018.

9 Progress of recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny Review of 
Home Safety - Safe and Wellbeing Visits 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer introduced the Community Safety Group Manager, 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service (CDDFRS), Steve Wharton and 
the Public Health Portfolio Lead, Tim Wright who were in attendance to give an update on 
progress with recommendations following the Overview and Scrutiny Review of Home 
Safety - Safe and Wellbeing Visits (SWVs) (for copy see file of minutes).

The Community Safety Group Manager thanked the Committee for their support in relation 
to the issue and the value that was added.  He also noted thanks to former Councillor T 
Nearney who had chaired the review, his hard work being very much appreciated.

Members were referred to recommendation one, in relation to reviewing the framework 
document, and it was explained that the evaluation undertaken by Teesside University was 
due to be completed by March 2018, however, it was explained that no major issues were 
emerging.  In terms of recommendation two, Members noted that partners, including 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), would need to look at the data collected from the 
SWVs in order to help focus resources where there was need.  It was added an example 
had been the NHS Falls Team being able to look for hotspot and target, though again 
further progress would follow the evaluation by Teesside University.

The Community Safety Group Manager noted recommendation three had looked for the 
SWV scheme to be monitored through regular reporting to the SDP Board and Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

Page 10



Members noted that the reporting would look at successes, challenges and risks, and 
whether partners had the ability to be able to cope with increased demand for their 
services.  It was added that Fire Crews had been able to see the positive impact of their 
work and this was important to help Crews see the value they were adding.

The Community Safety Group Manager explained that recommendation four had been in 
relation to quality assurance in terms of the activities on outcomes of the SWVs with 
partner agencies, to ensure consistency.  It was noted that feedback from Crews had 
helped in improving the forms used for the SWVS.  Members noted that telephone 
feedback from those who had received SWVs was collated and that in terms of wider 
quality assurance, the evaluation from Teesside University would look to provide feedback 
on this.

The Public Health Portfolio Lead noted recommendation five had referred to a seminar to 
be held to deliver information for Members in terms of SWVs and for the scheme be 
promoted locally with Town and Parish Councils and AAPs.  It was noted that a seminar 
was planned, to be delivered by Public Health and CDDFRS and that AAPs had provided 
input in terms of SWVs from Members of the Service that attended each AAP.  It was 
added that the CDDFRS was in the process of writing out to all Town and Parish Councils 
in terms of information and to offer attendance at a convenient meeting if required.

Members noted that recommendation six was that the SDP Board looked at the 
opportunities in terms of issues of cybercrime and fraud to the included within the Safer 
Homes project.  It was explained that this was something that would be considered as part 
of the evaluation, though the Community Safety Group Manager noted that there was a 
need to understand that there could not be an endless expansion, and that what works 
should not be diluted.  The Chief Fire Officer added that a caveat to recommendation 6 
was that SWVs were as part of a National Joint Council trial and that with ongoing Fire 
Brigade Union issues it was important to continue to link the activities within SWVs to core 
fire activities.

The Public Health Portfolio Lead noted that in terms of recommendation four, it was a very 
complex agenda and that the challenge was on behavior change, and to be able to have 
incremental change to build, and therefore expectations should be set realistically in terms 
of the evaluation.  He added that the scale that CDDFRS had been able to engage was 
impressive and in “making every contact count” their work had been of very good credit to 
them.

The Chairman thanked the Officers for their update and noted that it was good that 
Overview and Scrutiny feedback had been taken on board and thanked the CDDFRS and 
Public Health for their hard work.

Councillor L Kennedy noted feedback was provided once a week and asked if this was 
prioritised in certain cases.  The Community Safety Group Manager noted that in issues of 
safeguarding, information would be fed back immediately, however it was noted that to 
allow partners to focus then once a week was found to be preferable.

Councillor H Liddle noted that in providing information to Town and Parish Councils, this 
may impact upon demand.  The Community Safety Group Manager noted the target was 
for 18,000 SWVs and that while some visits may last two hours, some may only be a few 
minutes.  He added that capacity was looked at, with caseloads being monitored.

Page 11



The Chairman asked how we would know that the SWVs were not duplicating work, for 
example where the other organisations, such as the County Durham Housing Group 
(CDHG), were visiting residents.

The Community Safety Group Manager noted that there were Memorandum of 
Understanding with Livin and the CDHG, and reminded Members that the main focus from 
the CDDFRS was in terms of preventing fire harm and reducing those risks, with SWVs 
targeting the most vulnerable specifically.

Resolved:

(i) That the report be noted.
(ii) That a further update on the progress with recommendations on the Overview and 

Scrutiny Review of Home Safety - Safe and Wellbeing Visits be received by the 
Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee in May 2018.

10 Overview and Scrutiny Review Updates 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update in respect of reviews: Cybercrime 
and Arson and Secondary Deliberate Fires.

In respect of Cybercrime, the Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted that there had been two 
meetings of the Working Group, looking at preventing individuals getting involved in 
hacking and offending and also in terms of education, awareness and engagement.  He 
noted the next meeting of the group would involve Officers from the North East Regional 
Specialist Operations Unit and colleagues from the Offender Management Unit.

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted an opportunity for 3 -4 Members to work with 
Police Cadets either on 14 or 30 November and volunteers could e-mail him as regards 
expressing an interest.  The Vice-Chairman, and Chairman of the Working Group, 
councillor H Liddle noted that raising awareness was important, including with 
parents/grandparents in addition to young people themselves.

In relation to Arson and Secondary Deliberate Fires a focus group, which included local 
Members, had been held and the Overview and Scrutiny Officer would pull together a 
response from Overview and Scrutiny to be then forwarded to the Safe Durham 
Partnership and Portfolio Holder. 

Resolved:

That the verbal update be noted.

Page 12



11 Police and Crime Panel 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer gave a verbal update in respect of the last meeting of 
the Police and Crime Panel, the agenda papers for Committee having been dispatch prior 
to the Panel meeting.

It was noted the main issues were: budget consultation, the preliminary work prior to full 
consultation in January; the Local Criminal Justice Board (LCJB) links to reducing 
reoffending; an update on Checkpoint; and the Quarterly Performance Report, noting the 
crime and anti-social behaviour statistics being at Neighbourhood Level.

Resolved:

That the verbal update be noted.   

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

15 January 2018

County Durham Road Safety 
Partnership 

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide Members of the Committee with information in advance of a 
presentation from Dave Wafer, Chair of the County Durham Road Safety 
Partnership on activity undertaken throughout 2017/18. 

Background

2. The Committee agreed its work programme in June 2017 and requested 
to include an item on the County Durham Road Casualty Reduction 
Forum. Information within the presentation contributes to the objective of 
‘Develop a safer road environment’ within the Safe Durham Partnership 
Plan 2016-19. 

3. The road casualty reduction forum reports to the Safe Durham 
Partnership and its membership includes representation from Durham 
County Council, Durham Constabulary, County Durham & Darlington Fire 
and Rescue Service and NHS organisations. In partnership, the forum 
undertake a range of activity that focus on education, engagement, 
engineering  and enforcement and the Safe Durham Partnership Plan 
identifies the following key objectives:

a. Improve education and raise awareness of road safety; 
b. Improve health and wellbeing of communities through casualty 

reduction, and
c. Develop a safer road environment. 

4. Road safety is a key objective for the Committee and receive quarterly 
performance reports. Members have also previously attended 
partnership events including WiseDrive and the Safety Carousel. 
Furthermore, the Committee took the lead for the overview and scrutiny 
review on implementation of 20 mph limits that was cited within the 
Council’s submission that won a MJ (Municipal Journal) Award for 
Governance & Scrutiny in June 2016.

5. The presentation to the Committee’s meeting will provide Members with 
detail on current accident trends together with an overview of activity 
undertaken to deliver the above objectives and information on campaign 
activity throughout 2017/18. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



6. In addition, the presentation will also include an update from a Special 
meeting of the Committee held in December 2016 that focussed on 
partnership activity for ‘Road Safety – Young Drivers and the Fatal Four’. 
The Committee was provided with an overview of current statistics, 
partnership activity including attitudes to driving and engagement with 
Area Action Partnerships.  Within its response to the Partnership, the 
Committee made representation to aim for safer roads, the importance 
on focusing on this age group and in particular the accident causation 
factors of speeding, drink/drug driving and failing to look properly. 

Recommendation

Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained within the 
report and presentation and comment accordingly. 

Background Papers
None 

Contact: Jonathan Slee, Overview and Scrutiny Officer  
Tel: 03000 268 142

Page 16



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – None 

Staffing – None 

Risk - None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – None 

Accommodation - None

Crime and Disorder – None 

Human Rights – None 

Consultation – None 

Procurement – None

Disability Issues – None 

Legal Implications – None 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
15 January 2018 
 
Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed 
Limits Project - Update Report 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director - Regeneration and 
Local Services   

Councillor Brian Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods 
and Local Partnerships 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Safer and Stronger 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the 
Schools 20 mph Part-time Speed Limits Project.  

 
Background 
 
2. At its meeting on 17 December 2014 Cabinet approved the Schools 20 

mph Part-time Speed Limits Project which involves introducing part-time 
20 mph limits on main and distributor roads around the 33 schools with the 
highest accident rates.  
 

3. The objective of the project is to improve road safety around the vicinity of 
schools during school drop off and pick up times as well as making 
walking and cycling to school more attractive. 
 

4. The project includes education and awareness raising to encourage 
motorists to reduce their speed and encourage children to walk and cycle 
to school. 
 

5. The project is funded by a one-off Public Health Grant of £952,850 and is 
complemented by a revenue budget to help deliver road safety education 
and social marketing.  
 

6. An update report was approved by Cabinet on 11 May 2016 which 
highlighted that the project was progressing under budget and ahead of 
schedule. Cabinet approved that the underspend be used to expand the 
scope of the project to a further 33 schools (66 schools in total) using the 
revised prioritisation criteria developed in consultation with the Scrutiny 20 
mph Working Group. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



 

The Original 33 Schools 
 

7. Phases 1 (2015/16) and 2 (2016/17) of the project have been successfully 
delivered. 

 
8. Please see Appendix 2: Project Plan - Original 33 Schools for further 

details of progress by each school.                                        
   

The Additional 33 Schools 
 
9. The additional 33 schools were selected using the revised prioritisation 

criteria which was developed in consultation with the Scrutiny 20 mph 
Working Group. The revised prioritisation criteria is  based on three risk 
factors: 

 
 Collision history; 
 Measured PV2; and 
 Measured speeds. 

 
Measured PV2 is a measure of pedestrian risk where: 

 
 P = Number of pedestrians; and 
 V = Number of vehicles. 
 

10. The additional 33 schools were grouped into geographical areas with 
Phase 3 of the Project comprising 16 schools being planned for delivery in 
2017/18 and Phase 4 comprising the remaining 17 schools being planned 
for delivery in 2018/19. 
 

11. To date the majority of the schools within Phase 3 of the Project have 
been successfully delivered with three schools in the Framwellgate Moor / 
Newton Hall area programmed for completion before the end of 2017/18. 
 

12. Please see Appendix 3: Project Plan - Additional 33 Schools for further 
details. 

 
Third Party Funded Schools 

 
13. The Council’s 20 mph Speed Limits and Zones Policy enables further 

Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limits to be facilitated where fully 
funded by third parties. 

 
14. To date an additional 11 schemes have been completed which have 

mainly been funded by Members’ Neighbourhood Budgets. We also have 
received enquiries by Members for a further 14 schools which are in 
various stages of development. 
 

15. Please see Appendix 4: Project Plan - Third Party Funded Schools for 
further details. 

 

Page 20



 

Benefits Evaluation 
 

16. Durham University were commissioned to carry out a study with the aim of 
evaluating the effects of 20 mph speed limits on the wider health and 
wellbeing outcomes such as whether there has been increased active 
travel and improved feelings of safety.  
 

17. The evaluation demonstrated a number of positive findings including 
widespread acceptance of the schemes by various stakeholders. In 
addition, perception of safety had increased leading to an increased desire 
to walk and cycle to school. The evaluation concluded in some 
recommendations that will further enhance the project. 
 

18. Please see Appendix 5: Durham University - Evaluation (Summary) for 
further details. 
 

19. Photographs from Phase 3 of the Project are shown below:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                 

 

Page 21



 

 

              
 
Recommendations and Reasons 
 
20. It is recommended that the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee: 
 

(i) Notes the good progress to date; and 
(ii) Agrees to a final update report early in 2019/20 once the project is 

completed. 
 
Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1: Implications 
 Appendix 2: Project Plan - Original 33 Schools 
 Appendix 3: Project Plan - Additional 33 Schools 
 Appendix 4: Project Plan - Third Party Funded Schools 
 Appendix 5: Durham University Evaluation (Summary) 
 
Background Papers 
 
 Cabinet Report dated 17 December 2014 
 Cabinet Report dated 11 May 2016 
 Overview and Scrutiny Working Group Meeting Report dated 1 July 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Contact:  John Reed, Head of Technical Services                   
Tel:   03000 267 454 

Page 22



 

  
Finance 
The Schools 20 mph Part-Time Speed Limit Project is providing Council funding 
from a Public Health Grant on a priority basis on main/distributor roads outside of 
a number of schools based upon an agreed risk methodology.  
 

Further schemes to introduce 20 mph speed limits/zones on existing roads will 
need to be funded from other sources such as Area Action Partnerships, Member 
Neighbourhood Budgets, Town Councils, Parish Councils and Schools. 
 

The Council’s 20 mph Speed Limit Policy requires Housing Developers to fund 
the introduction of 20 mph speed limit/zone schemes on all new residential estate 
roads in developments granted planning consent after 1st April 2016. 
  
Staffing  
Schemes are delivered by existing staff supported by our supply chain of 
competitively procured contractors. 
 

Risk  
There may be objections to schemes which will be considered through the 
consultation process. 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
None. 
 

Accommodation  
None. 
 

Crime and Disorder  
None. 
 

Human Rights  
None. 
 

Consultation 
All changes to speed limits need to be consulted upon and any objections to the 
introduction of mandatory speed limits that cannot be resolved informally will be 
considered by Highways Committee. 
 

Procurement  
Schemes are delivered by existing staff supported by our supply chain of 
competitively procured contractors. 
 

Disability Issues  
None. 
 

Legal Implications  
The Council has the power as the local Highway Authority to introduce 20 mph 
speed limits and zones under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as 
amended) by making Traffic Regulation Orders and where appropriate the 
Highways Act 1980 (as amended). 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 23



Appendix 2: Project Plan - Original 33 Schools 
 

Phase Financial 
Year 

Schools Area  Design Start Construction 
End 

1 2015/16 Bishop Barrington School  Bishop Auckland December 2014 22/1/16 
  Etherley Lane Nursery  Bishop Auckland December 2014 5/10/15 
  Etherley Lane Primary  Bishop Auckland December 2014 5/10/15 
  Evergreen  Bishop Auckland December 2014 22/1/16 
  King James 1 Academy Bishop Auckland December 2014 30/11/15 
  St Anne's CE (Cont) 

Primary  
Bishop Auckland December 2014 22/1/16 

  Woodhouse Community 
Primary  

Bishop Auckland December 2014 15/1/16 

  Bullion Lane Primary Chester-le-Street December 2014 5/2/16 
  Cestria Primary Chester-le-Street December 2014 7/12/15 
  Newker Primary Chester-le-Street December 2014 5/2/16 
  Park View Community 

School (Church Chare)  
Chester-le-Street December 2014 7/12/15 

  St Cuthbert's RC VA 
Primary  

Chester-le-Street December 2014 28/9/15 

  The Hermitage School  Chester-le-Street December 2014 5/2/16 

2 2016/17 Consett Infant School & 
Nursery Unit  

Consett December 2015 13/6/16 

  Shotley Bridge Infant Consett December 2015 2/12/16 
  Shotley Bridge Junior  Consett December 2015 2/12/16 
  St Patrick's RCVA 

Primary  
Consett December 2015 13/6/16 

  New Seaham Primary Seaham December 2015 2/5/16 
Seaview Primary  Seaham December 2015 25/3/16 

  Seaham School of 
Technology  

Seaham December 2015 2/5/16 

  Seaham Trinity Primary  Seaham December 2015 30/5/16 

  Westlea Primary  Seaham December 2015 2/5/16 
  Greenland Community 

Primary  
Stanley December 2015 25/11/16 

  North Durham Academy  Stanley December 2015 25/4/16 
 St Joseph's RC VA 

Primary 
Durham December 2015 16/12/16 

  Cotsford Junior  Horden December 2015 16/12/16 
  St Mary's RC VA Primary  Newton Aycliffe December 2015 25/11/16 

  Sugar Hill Primary  Newton Aycliffe December 2015 7/10/16 
  Acre Rigg Infant  Peterlee December 2015 2/12/16 

  Dene Community School 
of Technology  

Peterlee December 2015 2/12/16 

  Dene House Primary  Peterlee December 2015 2/12/16 
  King Street Primary  Spennymoor December 2015 9/12/16 
  Rosa Street Primary  Spennymoor December 2015 9/12/16 

Page 24



Appendix 3: Project Plan - Additional 33 Schools 
 

Phase Financial 
Year 

Schools Area  Design Start Construction 
End 

3 2017/18 Byron College Peterlee December 2016 July 2017 
  Our Lady of the Rosary 

RCVA Primary 
Peterlee December 2016 July 2017 

  St Bede’s RC 
Comprehensive & 6th Form 

Peterlee December 2016 July 2017 

  Shotton Hall Academy Peterlee December 2016 November 2017 
  Shotton Hall Primary Peterlee December 2016 November 2017 
  Seaham Harbour Nursery Seaham December 2016 September2017 
  Ropery Walk Primary Seaham December 2016 September2017 
  Our Lady Star of the Sea 

RCVA Primary 
Horden December 2016 October 2017 

  Easington Colliery Primary Easington December 2016 November 2017 
  Easington Academy Easington December 2016 October 2017 
  Nevilles Cross Primary Durham December 2016 November 2017 
  New College Durham December 2016 January 2018 
  Framwellgate School Durham December 2016 January 2018 
  Framwellgate Moor Primary Durham December 2016 January 2018 
  St Leonard’s Catholic 

School & 6th Form 
Durham December 2016 November 2017 

  Whitworth Park School & 6th 
Form College 

Spennymoor December 2016 July 2017 

4 2018/19 Roseberry Primary Pelton December 2017 July 2018 
  Pelton Community Primary Pelton December 2017 July 2018 
  Sacriston Primary Sacriston December 2017 August 2018 
  Chester-le-Street C of E 

Primary 
Chester-le-
Street 

December 2017 November 2018 

  St Joseph’s RCVA Primary Stanley December 2017 December 2018 
Consett Academy Consett December 2017 November 2018 

  Annfield Plain Junior Annfield Plain December 2017 October 2018 
  Annfield Plain Infants Annfield Plain December 2017 October 2018 
  St Bede’s Catholic School & 

6th Form College 
Lanchester December 2017 December 2018 

  Shield Row Primary Shield Row December 2017 August 2018 
  Delves Lane Primary Delves Lane December 2017 August 2018 

 Tanfield School (Science & 
Engineering) 

Tanfield December 2017 September 2018 

  Teesdale School Barnard 
Castle 

December 2017 July 2018 

  Green Lane C of E Primary Barnard 
Castle 

December 2017 July 2018 

  Cockton Hill Primary School Bishop 
Auckland 

December 2017 November 2018 

  Our Lady and St Thomas 
RCVA Primary School 

Willington December 2017 December 2018 

  Willington Primary School Willington December 2017 December 2018 

Page 25



 
Appendix 4: Project Plan - Third Party Funded Schools 
 
Schools Financial 

Year 
Area Funding 

Source 
Park View, North Lodge, 
Secondary 

2016/17 Chester-le-Street Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

West Rainton Primary 2016/17 West Rainton Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

UTC South Durham 2016/17 Newton Aycliffe School Funded 
Bowburn Junior School 2016/17 Bowburn Members’ 

Neighbourhood 
Budget 

North Park Primary 2017/18 Spennymoor Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Silver Tree and St Joseph’s 
RCVA 

2017/18 Ushaw Moor Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Middlestone Moor Primary 2017/18 Middlestone 
Moor 

Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Coxhoe Primary 2017/18 Coxhoe Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Tudhoe Colliery 2017/18 Tudhoe Colliery Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Langley Moor Primary/Junior 2017/18 Langley Moor Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

Easington CofE 2017/18 Easington Village Members’ 
Neighbourhood 
Budget 

 
 
 

Page 26



 
Appendix 5: Durham University - Evaluation (Summary) 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
1. Transport is an important social determinant of health. Over a quarter of pedestrian 

injuries in children occur in the most deprived wards (NICE, 2010). The main factor 
behind this is exposure to danger rather than individual behaviour. For instance, high-
speed traffic is disproportionately located in more deprived neighbourhoods.  

 
2. The National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) recommends that traffic 

calming measures be implemented to reduce speed (including changes to the speed 
limit such as implementing area-wide 20 mph limits) with the aim of reducing 
casualties. In addition, the Department for Transport (2012) also advocated 20 mph 
zones or limits in primarily residential areas and in towns or cities where pedestrians 
and cyclists are highly concentrated, such as around schools. 

 
3. Health inequalities may be reduced through traffic calming measures that encourage 

the uptake of physical activity (e.g. more walking and cycling due to better 
road/pavement design, increased perceptions of safety), thereby overcoming some 
current barriers to active transport (walking/cycling).  

 
4. These interventions should be underpinned by “soft” or social marketing to support the 

implementation of signs-only 20 mph limits combined with time limited interventions 
such as Speed Indicator Devices (SIDs) to ‘nudge’ driver’s behaviour. 

 
5. The part-time speed limit is in operation between the hours of 8-9am and 3-4pm (the 

most busy school drop off/collection times). The evaluation was conducted over a six-
month period between April 2016 and September 2016 by researchers at Durham 
University. Ethical approval from both Durham University and Durham County Council 
was obtained prior to the commencement of this research. 

 
6. The aim of this evaluation is to look at the effects of 20 mph limits on the wider health 

and wellbeing outcomes such as whether there has been increased active travel and 
improved feelings of safety.  

 
7. The evaluation framework that was developed in collaboration with Durham County 

Council in late 2015. The evaluation was divided into two components: process and 
outcome. The purpose of the process evaluation was to identify aspects of the scheme 
that have worked well and areas for improvement to be able to feed forward into the 
next phase of implementation whereas the outcome evaluation was to assess the 
impacts of 20 mph limits to data on perceptions of safety and active travel.  

 
8. A mixed-method evaluation was used to assess the impact of a road safety programme 

to underpin the 20 mph limit programme in County Durham from: 
 

 A survey of 10 schools comprising 493 pupils; 
 Case study (interviews and focus group);  
 Feedback from a Junior Road Safety Officer (JRSO) event held at the Council (24 

attendees completed the survey); and 
 A school census on active travel. 

 

 

 

Page 27



 
9. The evaluation demonstrated a number of positive findings including the widespread 

acceptance of the schemes as demonstrated by the case study school (from both 
pupils and teachers) as well as other stakeholders including a Health Champion, 
community members and a local resident. 

 
10. Perceptions of safety have significantly increased as shown by the school survey 

results and mentioned in some of the interviews/responses in the survey also revealed 
a desire to walk or cycle to school instead of being driven following the 20 mph limit. 
The evaluation also validates the high quality of the road safety programmes that are 
developed and implemented by the Council’s road safety team. 

 
11. However, some concerns were identified and suggestions were raised to improve the 

scheme relating to raising awareness of the scheme in the community and particularly 
aimed at parents and motorists to reinforce the 20 mph limits (through ‘nudge’ 
approaches. The national evidence clearly indicates that changing driver behaviour is a 
long-term goal and all 20 mph schemes should be supported by ‘soft measures’ to 
underpin these programmes. 

 
12. The evaluation recommendations are therefore as follows: 
 

i. Targeted media campaign of the benefits of 20 mph limits at motorists (especially 
parents) from areas where the 20 mph limits are located; 

ii. Implement the use of other measures to ‘nudge’ behaviour for example the use 
SIDs for at least two weeks and no longer than three weeks at sites as 
recommended by the Transport Research Laboratory (2008) and/or community 
speed watch programmes; and 

iii. Continue with the road safety activities alongside implementing the 20 mph limit 
particularly the JRSO which was the most preferred by the majority of the pupils.  

 

Page 28



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

15 January 2018

Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP) Three-Year Plan 
Consultation 

Report of Stuart Errington, Chief Fire Officer, County Durham & 
Darlington Fire & Rescue Authority 

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide the Safer Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with background to the Fire Authority’s IRMP three-year plan. 
The Committee will be provided with a presentation setting out details of 
the three-year plan and consultation.

Background

2. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to 
prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework. The current Fire and 
Rescue National Framework for England, published in July 2012, sets out 
the government’s priorities and expectations for Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRA) in England. 

3. Key priorities in the National Framework include the need to:
 identify and assess all foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 

that could affect its community; 
 demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities 

will be used to mitigate those risks; 
 reflect effective consultation with the community, its staff and 

partners work in partnership with their communities and a wide 
range of partners locally and nationally to deliver the service;

 To be accountable to communities for the services provided.
 

4. The National Framework requires FRAs to publish an IRMP, reflecting up 
to date risk information and covering at least a 3-year period.
 

5. The new IRMP 3-year plan document agreed by the Authority in October 
2017 is attached (Appendix 2) and sets out the current position of the 
service along with key achievements, performance information and 
forthcoming risks and challenges.

  
6. The last section of the new IRMP three-year plan (Appendix 2) sets out 

the suggested question set for the consultation.  The question set consists 
of six questions aimed at gauging public perceptions and levels of support 
rather than consulting on specific issues.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



7. It is anticipated that next year’s consultation document will be around more 
specific issues.

Consultation approach

8. For the results of the consultation exercise to be as representative as 
possible, the data collection methodology has been expanded in order to 
encourage more responses.

9. With this in mind, consultation has been carried out as part of the Safe & 
Wellbeing visits for the first time.  This will ensure feedback is encouraged 
from a good cross section of the communities we serve.

  
10. As well as this we have consulted using the below:

 Face to face briefings;
 Writing directly to key stakeholders; 
 Online and paper-based surveys;
 Presentations.

11. The intention is to engage with a wide range of stakeholders, including:
 Our staff;
 Representative bodies;
 The public;
 Our partner agencies;
 Members of parliament; Local councillors;
 Parish councils;
 Residents associations;
 Area Action Partnerships;
 Community groups;
 Neighbouring fire and rescue services.

12. Appropriate service announcements were made when consultation 
commenced via a media release and appropriate posts to the service’s 
social media feeds and website.

 
13. The consultation was carried out from 23rd October 2017 and runs until 

15th January 2018.  The outcomes of the consultation will be reported to 
the Authority on 8th February 2018.

Recommendations

9. Members are requested to: 

(i) Consider and note the content of the IRMP three-year plan and 
consultation which will be presented at the meeting.

Contact: Anna Wilkes, Communications and Governance Manager
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority  

Tel: 0191 375 5600 E-mail: awilkes@ddfire.gov.uk 

Page 30

mailto:awilkes@ddfire.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – None 

Staffing – None 

Risk - None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – None 

Accommodation - None

Crime and Disorder – None 

Human Rights – None 

Consultation – Outcomes from this report and presentation will raise Members 
awareness of the Fire Authority’s consultation on its Integrated Risk 
Management Plan Action Plan.

Procurement – None

Disability Issues – None 

Legal Implications – None 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



A Safer County 
Durham and 
Darlington
Our 3-year plan

@CDDFRS

Page 33

Martin.Tindle
Typewritten text
Appendix 2



2

Contents

3.
Foreword
Welcome

8.
Section 2: Achievements
Our Achievements
Our Performance

12.
Section 3: Challenges 
About Our Area
Our Districts

20.
Section 4: our focus
Our Vision
Our Equipment
Our Areas of Focus

28.
Section 5: finance
Our Medium Term Financial Plan

29.
Section 6: Consultation
Why do we consult?
How do we consult?

4.
Section 1: Introduction
About Us
Our Team

Page 34



Foreword 3

Foreword
Having the safest people and safest places is 
at the heart of everything we do as a fire and 
rescue service and will be the golden thread 
running through every emergency call we take, 
every incident we attend and every home or 
business we make safer. 
The tragedy that 
unfolded at Grenfell 
Tower earlier this 
year served as a 
poignant reminder 
of the critical role we 
play in protecting our 
communities and has 
only made us more 
determined and passionate than ever to do the 
job we do and to do it well.  

The last few years has seen some of the most 
significant cuts to public spending ever known.  
This means to continue offering a first-class fire 
and rescue service to people living, working 
and visiting County Durham and Darlington we 
must be innovative and do things differently.

This means collaborating with our partners more, 
looking at ways we can enhance and widen the 
traditional firefighter role and changing the way 
we recruit and develop our people to shape 
the culture of the service.  

At County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service (CDDFRS) we are all extremely 
proud to be a top performing fire and rescue 
service which strives to put the public at the 
heart of what we do.  

We currently have the fifth lowest number 
of accidental dwelling fires in the country, a 
number we are constantly striving to decrease 
through proactive work such as our safe and 
wellbeing visits with us visiting over 30,000 
households since the safe and wellbeing 
initiative began in 2016.

Although the future will undoubtedly be 
challenging we are committed to the delivery 
of a professional, innovative and effective fire 
and rescue service and will build upon our 
current position of strength as we work towards 
our vision of the safest people and safest places.  Stuart Errington, Chief Fire Officer (CFO)

Councillor John Robinson, CFA Chair

Page 35



About us
CDDFRS is one of 45 fire and rescue services across England and is governed by the 
Combined Fire Authority (CFA).

A fire authority is a statutory, publicly accountable body made up of a committee of local 
councillors which oversees the policy and service delivery of a fire and rescue service. 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service’s Combined Fire Authority

The CFA is responsible on behalf of the communities 
of County Durham and Darlington to ensure there 
is an efficient and effective fire and rescue service.

The CFA consists of 21 elected councillors from 
Durham County Council and four from Darlington 
Borough Council and two independent members.

The CFA Chair is Councillor John Robinson. 

The CFA is responsible for setting the strategic 
direction of CDDFRS.

The CFA must:

• Ensure the service provided by 
CDDFRS meets the needs of the local 
community.

• Approve overall policy and strategy.

• Scrutinise performance.

• Monitor financial spending.

• Ensure that work is carried out efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service

CFO Stuart Errington leads CDDFRS with support from his Service Leadership Team (SLT).

The Chief Fire Officer has responsibility for the delivery of an efficient and effective fire and rescue 
service across County Durham and Darlington on behalf of the CFA. 

4 Section 1 - introduction

Page 36



SLT Structure

5Section 1 - introduction

Dominic Brown
Area Manager

Emergency
Response

Keith Wanley
Area Manager

Community 
Risk

Management

Colin Bage
Deputy Chief

Fire Officer

Katherine 
Metcalfe

Workforce
Development

Manager

Andy Hopkinson
Area Manager

Assurance &
Assets

Keith Lazzari
Corporate
Resources
Manager

Stuart 
Errington
Chief Fire 

Officer

Sarah Nattrass
Area Manager

Workforce
Development

Tony Hope
Head of 

Corporate
Resources &

Treasurer

Page 37



6 Section 1 - introduction

Our Team

474 are 
firefighters - 
306 full time 
and 168 on 

call.

There are

570 
members of 

CDDFRS.

76 
are corporate 
staff who work 
in departments 
such as Human 

Resources, 
Workshops 

Finance and 
Communications 
and Governance. 

Our fire 
fighters 

are based 
across 

15 
fire stations.

19 
work in our 

control room 
- the place 
where the 

emergency 
calls come into.

Our Buildings
Our service HQ is 
at Belmont on the 
outskirts of Durham 
City and we have a 
training centre and 
a technical services 

centre both based at 
Bowburn just south of 

Durham City.

Page 38



Joint Emergency Station

Consett Fire Station

Spennymoor Fire Station

Bishop Auckland Fire Station

Darlington Fire Station

7

Page 39



8 Section 2 - Achievements

Our Achievements
Our priorities were: 

• Explore opportunities to collaborate with 
partners

• Maximise use of our buildings

• Expand the role of our firefighters and staff

• Review our staffing levels and 
arrangements for emergency response

• Explore opportunities for income 
generation

Our key achievements are:

The opening of the UKs first ever station 
shared with four emergency services in 
Barnard Castle.  This facility opened in 
April 2017 and is shared by ourselves, 
Durham Constabulary, the North East 
Ambulance Service and Teesdale and 
Weardale Search and Mountain Rescue 
Team.

The service has recently welcomed its 
first ever apprentice fire fighters. The ten 
apprentices began work in 2017 starting 
on an intensive two-year fire fighter and 
business fire safety programme aimed 
at preparing them to be fire fighters of 
the future. The five male and five female 
apprentices, who are aged between 17 
and 25, will spend the first 12 months of their 
apprenticeship based at headquarters 
where they will be attached to every 
department learning how the organisation 
works.  In year two, they will each spend 
time at different fire stations and watches 
across the service area learning the role of 
a fire fighter. 

Barnard Castle Station

Firefighter Apprentices

Since we produced our last 
three year plan we have made 
considerable progress in the areas 
we identified as priorities.  
This progress has been made under 
challenging financial circumstances 
where despite budget cuts we 
have not only maintained our 
performance but improved it in 
some areas.

Page 40



Safe and Wellbeing visits
The service introduced 
Safe and Wellbeing visits 
in February 2016 which 
enhanced the traditional 
home fire safety check 
to include relevant 
assessment and referrals 
for health interventions.

9

We have launched our Safer Homes project which has seen us working closely with our colleagues at 
Durham Constabulary and Durham County Council.  This project involves working with social housing 
providers to fit properties with domestic sprinklers and home security equipment. 

safer homes

Responding to consultation with the public we’ve made fantastic progress in expanding our Young 
Firefighters association and cadet schemes.

Young Firefighters association

training centre at Bowburn

We have opened a state of the art training 
centre at Bowburn near Durham which as 
well as offering us a first-class facility for fire 
ground training has substantially enhanced 
our capacity to offer classroom based 
leadership and management development 
training as well as a wide range of practical 
business safety courses.

In January 2016 we began working 
with the North-East Ambulance Service 
(NEAS) on a trial basis to provide an 
emergency medical response to 
people living in Darlington, Consett, 
Seaham and Stanhope. This scheme 
was later expanded to Middleton-in-
Teesdale and Barnard Castle.  At the 
time of writing our fire fighters have 
attended 4,336 emergency medical 
response calls since the start of the trial.  
Two of our crews have received Chief 
Fire Officer commendations for the role 
they played in an emergency medical 
response situation since we began 
providing this service.

Partnership with NEAS

Page 41



We have collaborated with partners to maximise the space and facilities offered at Durham fire 
station.  Teesdale and Weardale Search and Mountain Rescue Team are also based at this site 
allowing for enhanced partnership working that is more cost effective. The facilities are also used 
by Blood Transfusion Services.

Collaboration with partners

The service along with Durham Constabulary and NEAS have 
introduced the regions first tri-responders.  The tri-responders are 
based at Stanhope and fulfil the role of Police Community Support 
Officer (PCSO) for Durham Constabulary, on-call fire fighters for 
ourselves and first responsers for NEAS.  This is only the second project 
of its kind in the country.

Fire, Police and ambulance tri responders

As a service, we track our performance on a daily 
basis so we are aware of the areas we need to 
improve on as well as the areas where we are 
performing particularly well.

We review this key performance information at both 
a service and local level and are challenged on this 
at the performance, policy and review commitee 
meeting of the CFA. 

Some of the most significant improvements in recent 
years are:

Our Performance

10 Section 2 - Achievements

Page 42



11Section 2 - Achievements

The number of calls 
we received has 

decreased year on 
year by 

11% 
- from 19,272 to 17,170 

last year.

We attended 82 non 
domestic building 

fires last year. That’s 

68% 
less than a decade 

ago.

Last year we responded 
to 321 road traffic 
collisions. That’s 

29%  
less than a decade ago.

Accidental house 
fires are down from 

463 to 213, a 

54% 
reduction from the 

previous year.

There were 2 deaths 
in house fires in 2016/2017 
with numbers remaining 

low and fluctuating 
between one and five in 

recent years.

Total injuries 
from accidental 
house fires are 

down from 67 a 
decade ago to 

43
 last year.

Page 43



12 Section 3 - Challenges

ABOUT our area
Before we begin to outline the risks and challenges 
we face it’s important to set the scene by describing 
the area we serve.   

We look after the areas of County Durham and 
Darlington which covers approximately 939 square 
miles with a population of 627,789.

We protect 285,135 households and around 18,628 
business premises.

Situated in the heart of the North East of England our 
area is bordered to the north by Northumberland 
and Tyne and Wear, Cumbria is to the west, 
Cleveland to the south and North Yorkshire to the 
south west. 

The city of Durham and town of Darlington are the 

major centres in our service area, with both situated 
on the east coast main line and close to the A1(M).

Other significant towns are Barnard Castle, Bishop 
Auckland, Crook, Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, 
Peterlee, Seaham, Chester-le-Street, Consett and 
Stanley.

Durham City and the larger industrial and 
commercial towns are situated in the east of the 
region.  

In contrast, the west is largely rural and sparsely 
populated.

The area is one of huge contrast and diversity with 
a rich history and heritage in coal and iron mining, 
farming and heavy railway industry.

From the North Pennines in the west to the 
Durham Heritage Coastline in the east it includes 
landscapes, habitats and features of local, national 
and international importance.

Tourism plays a key part in the local economy.  
There are many heritage sites including Raby Castle 
and Bowes Museum and the world heritage site of 
Durham Cathedral and Castle.

We protect 
285,135 

households and 
around 18,628 

business premises.

Page 44



13Section 3 - Challenges

Other key tourist attractions include Beamish 
Museum, the North Pennines and Durham County 
Cricket Ground at Chester-le-Street, attracting 
thousands of visitors each year.

Durham boasts a world class university with the 
students and graduates making a significant 
contribution to the local area and its economy.  
There are also strong links to Teesside University with 
their Business School located in Darlington.  

Our area has strong transport links to the rest of the 
UK and beyond by rail and by air via Durham Tees 
Valley Airport which is located five miles southeast 
of Darlington.  The main arterial routes of A1(M), 
A66 and A19 also run through our service area. 

OUR CHALLENGES
County Durham and Darlington has poor health 
statistics and low life expectancies compared to 
the national average.

County Durham has 36 (11.1%) LSOAs* ranked in 
the top 10% most deprived areas in England.

42.2% of the county’s population are living in areas 
ranked in the top 30% most deprived nationally.

Darlington has 10 (15.4%) LSOAs ranked in the top 
10% most deprived areas in England.

37.1% of the borough’s populations living in areas in 
the top 30% most deprived nationally.

*A Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA) is a 
geographic area. Lower Layer Super Output 
Areas are a geographic hierarchy designed 
to improve the reporting of small area statistics 
in England and Wales. Page 45



14 Section 3 - Challenges

OUR DISTRICTS
Our service is split 

into five districts 
each with their 

own unique 
challenges and 

risks which will 
influence our 

response and 
the service we 

provide.

DARLINGTON DISTRICT
The area covered by Darlington Fire Station 
includes the town of Darlington along with the 
surrounding villages of Middleton St George, 
Hurworth, Sadberge, Gainford, High and Low 
Coniscliffe. 

The station also provides mutual assistance into 
areas of North Yorkshire and Cleveland.

Darlington is a large market town with 
approximately 48,805 households. It comprises 
large-scale industrial, commercial and residential 
areas. There is a large amount of terraced housing 
in and around the town centre area with several 
large social housing estates on the outskirts of the 
town.

The A1(M) and A66 arterial routes pass through 
the area and the A68 and A167 roads provide 

connecting routes to larger towns within the county. 

The East Coast and Tees Valley railway lines pass through Darlington. Durham Tees Valley 
International Airport is located on the border between Darlington and Cleveland, which provides 
passenger and freight transport. The Tees and Skerne rivers run through the Darlington area and 
present a water risk due to its high recreational use and flood potential.

Newton Aycliffe has approximately 15,815 households.  Within a 10-mile radius are several towns 
and villages including Darlington, Bishop Auckland, Shildon and Heighington. 

The sizeable industrial areas include two sites classified as top tier site under the Control of Major 
Accident Hazards (COMAH) Regulations.

5
DISTRICTS

DARLINGTON DISTRICT
Darlington

Newton Aycliffe
Sedgefield

DERWENTSIDE DISTRICT
Consett 

High Handenhold 
Stanhope

DURHAM DISTRICT
Crook 

Durham 
Spennymoor

EASINGTON DISTRICT
Peterlee 
Seaham 

Wheatley Hill

WEAR AND TEES DISTRICT
Bishop Auckland 
Barnard Castle 

Middleton-in-Teesdale

Page 46



15

The town is also home to a £82m factory for 
the production of high-speed trains, commuter 
trains and metro trains.

Newton Aycliffe fire station is a joint facility 
shared with Durham Constabulary who have 
been rehoused from a decommissioned police 
station making them more accessible to the 
public within the town centre. Sharing facilities 
allows us to maximise the use of our buildings 
and to make best use of public money. 

Sedgefield is a small town with 4,216 households. 
It is home to the North East Technology (NET) 
Park which is a growing science park that is 
home to several high-technology companies.

Sections of the A689, A177, the B1278 and the 
East Coast Main Line runs north/south through 
the station area which also covers sections of 
the A1(M).

DERWENTSIDE DISTRICT
Consett is located to the north west of Durham 
with approximately 29,184 households.  There 
are large residential areas at Consett, Leadgate, 
and Annfield Plain. There are also many smaller 
villages in the surrounding areas, some of which 
have high levels of social deprivation.

The population in and around Consett has 
increased considerably over recent years due to 
a large increase in residential development. The 
main industrial risk located in Consett’s station 
area is Thomas Swan which is located less than 
half a mile from the fire station. The main arterial 
routes around Consett are the A68, A691, A692, 
A693 and A694.

Consett covers a large geographical area 
which includes large areas of moorland around 
Edmunbyers Common and Muggleswick 
Common.

To the west of Consett lies Derwent Reservoir 
which is on the Durham Northumberland border 
and as well as home to numerous water sport 
activities, it is a key part of the water supply 
network in the north east.

High Handenhold station  area  has 
approximately 33,626 households covering 
from Oxhill (Stanley) in the west to Lumley and 
Fencehouses in the east. To the north it borders 
Tyne and Wear and to the south the station 
area extends to Chester Moor. The main towns 
covered by High Handenhold are Stanley and 
Chester-le-Street however, there are a number 

of surrounding villages such as Pelton, Grange 
Villa and Quaking Houses to name but a few.

The station covers mainly industrial and 
domestic risks with the A1(M) running north to 
south through the station area. The A167 and 
A693 also run through the station area providing 
links with other towns and villages both of which 
are major trunk roads through the county. The 
A693 runs east to west through the station area.

The East Coast main line runs north to south 
through the area with a station situated within 
Chester-le-Street. Tanfield Railway is a small 
visitor attraction that travels north from Tanfield 
towards Sunniside in Tyne and Wear. 

Stanhope is a small market town in County 
Durham with 3,726 households. It is situated 
on the River Wear between Eastgate and 
Frosterley on the north side of Weardale. The 
A689 Trans Pennine road meets the B6278 road 
from Barnard Castle to Shotley Bridge here. 

Section 3 - Challenges

DURHAM DISTRICT
Durham is a University City with a fluctuating 
population. There are approximately 40,128 
households and the city contains a number of 
historical sites including the world heritage sites 
Durham Cathedral and Durham Castle.  There 
are also large residential areas on both sides of 
the city at Newton Hall, Gilesgate, Belmont and 
Carrville. There are also many smaller villages 
in the surrounding areas, some of which have 

levels of social deprivation.

Durham University has 14 colleges situated 
throughout the city with varying standards of 
accommodation for approximately 14,000 
students living in halls of residence and within 
the local community. The University presents a 
high sleeping risk from resident and non-resident 
students aged 18 to 23 years old. 

Page 47



16 Section 3 - Challenges

EASINGTON DISTRICT
Peterlee fire station covers the main town of 
Peterlee along with the surrounding villages of 
Easington, Shotton Colliery, Castle Eden and 
Blackhall as well as providing mutual assistance 
to Cleveland Fire Brigade.

Peterlee is a medium sized ‘new town’ built in 
1948 with an approximately 26,961 households. 
It is surrounded by a number of former mining 
villages and is positioned close to the coast, 
approximately 10 miles east of Durham City, 10 
miles south of Sunderland, and 8 miles north of 
Hartlepool.

The area also has a number of industrial estates 
containing medium to large factory facilities 
including one classified as a top tier site under 
the Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) 
Regulations.

The A19 runs the full length of the station area 
that also covers approximately five miles of 
coastline.

Seaham area includes the main town of Seaham 
along with the surrounding villages of Seaton, 
Murton and Hawthorn as well as providing 
mutual assistance into areas of Tyne and Wear.

The population in and around the Seaham 
area declined during the eighties and early 
nineties; however the numbers have increased 

again to approximately 13,954 households with 
new housing developments and investment 
impacting on population.

Seaham has approximately three miles of coast 
most of which is designated as a “heritage 
coast”.

Seaham Harbour handles ships up to 8,000 
tonnes and includes 27,000 square metres of 
warehousing.

The station covers industrial and domestic risks 
with Dalton Park shopping centre situated just 
off the A19 approximately three miles from 
Seaham. The A19 runs the length of the station 
area providing connecting routes to larger 
towns within the county.

Wheatley Hill covers the main village of Wheatley 
Hill and the surrounding villages of Thornley, 
Trimdon and Wingate. It has approximately 
7,306 households.

The station area consists mainly of former mining 
villages, with a number of small and medium 
sized industrial estates and other businesses.

The station is in close proximity to the A19, the 
A181 along with other B roads provide the 
main transport links to the remainder of County 
Durham.

station area, with the A167 and A690 providing 
the main connections to towns and villages 
within the area.

Crook station area has approximately 11,924 
households. Most people live in Crook and 
Willington but there are however many smaller 
rural villages in the surrounding area.

To the north and west of the station are the 
ward areas of Tow Law and Stanley and the 
well-known picnic and beauty spot of East 
Hedleyhope.

A new fire station was opened in May 2014, 
containing a high quality training facility and 
state of-the-art community meeting facilities.

Crook station covers industrial and domestic 
risks as well as water risks from flooding. The A690 
provides the main route through Crook with the 
A689 andA68 providing connecting routes to 
larger towns in County Durham

Spennymoor Community Fire Station is located 
close to the Durham Gate development and 
provides operational cover to the main town of 
Spennymoor along with the surrounding villages 
of Croxdale, Kirk Merrington and Ferryhill town.

Spennymoor has approximately 20,705 
households, the East Coast mainline travels 
through the station area as does the main 
A1(M). The River Wear runs west to east 
presenting a water risk with a historic flood risk in 
the Sunderland Bridge area.

Page 48



17Section 3 - Challenges

WEAR AND TEES DISTRICT
Barnard Castle is a market town within the 
Teesdale area and is the main centre of 
population in the station area with approximately 
5,029 households. Barnard Castle station covers 
a predominately rural area containing small and 
medium size residential areas and large areas of 
moorland and forest. 

Located with the town are a hospital, a young 
offender’s prison and the Bowes Museum, a 
major heritage site housing many important 
works of art. Barnard Castle’s largest single 
employer is a large scale pharmaceutical 
manufacturing facility.

The station covers industrial, agricultural and 
domestic risks, which include a number of multi 
occupancy type premises relating to the tourist 
industry. The busy Trans Pennine A66 route skirts 
the boundaries of the town and the A167 and 
A688 provide connecting routes to larger towns 
within the county. The River Tees runs through 
the District area and presents a water risk due 
to its high recreational use and flood potential 
during spate conditions and there are also a 
number of reservoirs along with large areas of 
peat bogs. Rural moorland incorporating large 
areas of forest such as The Stang and Stainmore 
present the potential for wildfires. 

The new £3.78m state-of-the-art quad station, 
believed to be the first in the country, opened 
in April 2017, providing a base for fire, police, 
ambulance and search & mountain rescue 
services.

Bishop Auckland station looks after one of 
the largest areas in the county covering 
the central areas of Bishop Auckland, West 
Auckland, Tindale Crossing and Etherley, across 
to Hamsterley Forest in the west, Hunwick and 
Witton le Wear in the north, parts of Shildon and 
Coundon in the east and Ingleton and Staindrop 
in the south.

The station covers industrial and domestic risks 
each with their own particular challenges due 
to issues of social deprivation. The district has a 
wide blend of industrial, commercial, residential 
and rural areas and this provides a wide range 
of potential risks for the fire and rescue service.

Bishop Auckland has an approximately 26,534 
households.

Bishop Auckland has a number of rural risks which 
include farms, silos, quarries and Hamsterley 
Forest. The main arterial routes around Bishop 
Auckland are A68, A688 and A6072.

Middleton-in-Teesdale is a small market town 
with approximately 1,480 households and is the 
main centre in the Upper Dale. It is situated on 
the north side of Teesdale between Eggleston 
and Newbiggin, a few miles to the north west of 
Barnard Castle. It is the furthest west of our fire 
stations and shares borders with Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue Service.

The Station area covers outlying villages of 
Harwood, Romaldkirk, Langdon Beck and 
Mickleton.

The Pennines in the west are predominantly 
moorland which is used for tourism, agriculture 
and shooting during the season. These remote 
rural areas present a risk of wildfire, particularly 
during the summer months.

Page 49



18 Section 3 - Challenges

As well as the Fire and Rescue Services 
Act 2004 setting out the statutory 
obligations, that we have to provide 
and deliver, other legislation lays out 
a responsibility for ensuring that the 
service is available to respond to and 
manage a wide range of foreseeable 
risks and threats, delivered through a 
variety of local, regional and national 
delivery models.

CDDFRS continue to respond to a 
wide range of incidents other than 
fires but rarely attends incidents in 
isolation and so the prominence of 
multi-agency working is very high on 
all responding agencies agendas. 
The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
requires us to continually improve 
both working relationships and 
response arrangements with partner 
agencies and the vehicle by which 
this is achieved is through the Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF).  

As well as the traditional incidents we 
respond to there are also emerging 
risks that have to be addressed. 
Examples of these risks include the 
increase of terrorist attacks within the 
UK and our subsequent involvement 
with a national resilience capability 
that allows for a more effective 
casualty rescue from such incidents 
while maintaining the safety and 
welfare of our staff. Our strategic 
priorities ensure we are best placed 
to translate the framework of 
expectations laid out in the relevant 
legislation, guidance documents 
and risk registers into appropriate 
and effective action. 

NATIONAL RESILIENCE CAPABILITY

Page 50



19Section 3 - Challenges

An increasing risk relates to extreme 
weather; this includes the risk of death, injury 
or loss from flooding. 

In recent years the number of significant 
flooding events has increased. We have 
many areas within County Durham and 
Darlington that have been subject to severe 
localised flooding and in the past year we 
deployed some of our national resilience 
assets to deal with major flooding in the 
south of the country.

RISK OF EXTREME WEATHER

We are part of the County Durham 
and Darlington LRF which is a multi-
agency partnership formed to meet the 
requirements of the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004.  

The LRF keep a community risk register which 
identifies a range of emergency situations 
and risks County Durham and Darlington 
could face. These risks are used to inform 
our work.

LOCAL RESILIENCE FORUM (LRF)

The challenges and risks we face outlined in 
this section are the most significant ones we 
face but are by no means exhaustive.  

We regularly review the risk profile of our 
organisation to ensure we are as prepared 
as we can be for potential demand upon 
our service.  

Page 51



To respond effectively to the challenges outlined in the previous section we need to be 
clear on our strategic direction as a service. A defined vision, strategic priorities, values 
and behaviours are key to us doing this. 

OUR FOCUS

OUR VISION IS SIMPLE…
We want to have the safest people and safest places.

The service has six 
strategic priorities:

Detailed information 
about exactly how 

we will deliver these 
strategic priorities 

can be found on our 
website on https://

www.ddfire.gov.uk/our-
priorities

20 Section 4 - Our Focus

Professional Innovative Effective

OUR VALUES
These values are 

known in our 
organisation as 
the PIE values.

Value for money
We will deliver an efficient 

fire and rescue service 
through the effective use 
of public money and be 

accountable to the public.

Working together
We will work closely with 
our partners to improve 

public safety.

Emergency response
We will plan and prepare 

for emergencies and 
provide a professional 

and effective response at 
all times.

Business fire safety
We will provide 

professional advice and 
assurance to support 

business development 
and ensure public safety.

Community safety
We will engage and 
educate people to 

improve their safety and 
wellbeing.

Our people, our way
We will support and 

develop our staff and 
ensure our values are at 
the centre of everything 

we do.

Page 52



To be the best fire and rescue service in the UK there are certain behaviours all members of CDDFRS 
are expected to display at work. 

How well people are demonstrating these behaviours as part of their day to day job are assessed in 
the appraisal system. 

BEING THE BEST

In summary, being the best is our internal branding, 
designed to sum up how all staff should approach their 
day to day business to be the best performing fire and 
rescue service in the UK.

It is the mechanism for bringing to life the service’s vision, 
values, behaviours and strategic priorities.  

Most importantly, it defines what we are about as an 
organisation, what’s important to us and how we should 
all go about our day to day business as members of 
CDDFRS.

21Section 4 - Our Focus

Page 53



22 Section 4 - Our Focus

OUR EQUIPMENT
As well as being clear on our strategic direction 
as a service we also need the operational 
capability to provide an effective fire and 
rescue service.

We have a range of vehicles and equipment 
spread across County Durham and Darlington 
to meet expected and potential demand for 
our services. 

As well as some of the more traditional vehicles 
and equipment we have specialised equipment 
such as high-rise appliances, animal and 
water resque equipment. And we also work in 
partnership with the environment agency using 
national assets to offer resilience in flooding 
situations for example.

Page 54



23Section 4 - Our Focus

We have recently invested in and introduced a joint drone unit 
with Durham Constabulary.

This unit has two drones which can be deployed during rescue 
operations and incidents to provide an aerial overview of the 
incident. 

As well as standard footage, the drones have thermal imaging 
capability and are more cost effective than helicopter 
deployment.

Page 55



24 Section 4 - Our Focus

OUR AREAS OF FOCUS

ON CALL FIREFIGHTER AVAILABILITY 
60% of the services’ emergency 
response provision is delivered 
by on call firefighters so it is 
essential the service maintains 
their availability to ensure that 
resources are always available 
to meet both risk and demand.

AREA ONE: EMERGENCY RESPONSE

Over the next three years our focus will be on 
ensuring sufficient and proportionate emergency 
response arrangements that are available to 
respond to and manage a wide range of risks 
and threats, delivered through a range of local, 
regional and national delivery models.

The service is classed nationally as a ‘Predominantly 
Rural’ fire and rescue service but its large 
geographical area covers several demographic 
groups including areas of industry, concentrated 
housing and pockets of social depravation which 
presents unique challenges to a fire and rescue 
service. 

Two key indicators will give a clear measure of the 
success of the strategy and these will be closely 
scrutinised over the next 3 years:

RESPONSE TIMINGS
Although there are no national standards of fire 
cover the service uses a suite of performance 
indicators to measure response times of resources 
to incidents across the service area. These are 
an essential monitoring tool to help ensure our 
appliances are deployed to the right incidents 
and arrive in time to make a difference. 

Page 56



25Section 4 - Our Focus

OVER THE NEXT THREE YEARS WE HAVE FIVE KEY AREAS OF FOCUS FOR EMERGENCY RESPONSE

Optimise emergency 
response capabilities 
to ensure we identify 

and respond to all 
foreseeable fire and 

rescue risks and 
other community 
risks and threats.

Enhance 
operational staffing 

arrangements to 
optimise efficiency, 

effectiveness 
and capacity 
for emergency 

response.

Review and 
develop our 

Emergency Medical 
Response (EMR) 

provision.

The service will 
continue to work with 

on call fire fighters 
developing innovative 

ways of working to 
ensure they continue 

to play a fundamental 
part in the delivery of 
the service’s strategic 

priorities.

Following a recent 
strategic review 

of Command and 
Control, further 

opportunities exist 
to optimise efficient 

and effective working 
arrangements and 

possible income 
generation.

Page 57



AREA TWO: COMMUNITY SAFETY

26 Section 4 - Our Focus

Our community safety service is delivered by a combination of a small specialist HQ team and 
operational firefighters out on stations.

In terms of community safety, we have five key areas of focus over the next three years.

Reduce fire 
deaths and 
injuries in the 

home

Arson reduction

Working in 
partnership

Engaging with 
young people

Business 
intelligence and 

data analysis

Page 58



27Section 4 - Our Focus

AREA THREE: BUSINESS FIRE SAFETY AND FIRE INVESTIGATION 
Our approach has always been to work proactively with businesses, offering support and advice to 
enable them to be compliant with the relevant legislation, ensuring our communities are safe and 
only using enforcement action where necessary.  

In terms of business fire safety, we have five key areas of focus over the next three years. 

Business 
fire safety 
delivery 
model

Legislative 
compliance

Fire safety 
audit risk 
profiling

Fire 
investigation 

standards

Fire 
investigation 
development 

and 
collaboration

AREA FOUR: VALUE FOR MONEY
We will deliver an efficient fire and rescue service through the effective use of public money and 
be accountable to the public.

Over the next three years we intend to focus upon:

Income 
generation

Investing for 
the future

Balancing 
the budget

Planning 
for the 
future

Ensuring 
we are 

transparent 
and 

accountable

AREA FIVE: WORKING TOGETHER
We always strive to work closely with our partners 
to improve public safety.

We continue to be committed to collaboration 
through innovation to improve services and 
performance.

The emergency services have collaborated at 
an operational level for many years. However, 
with the increasing demand on public services, 
coupled with the current and expected 
restrictions on funding, collaboration provides 
opportunities to truly innovate and save money.

We have signed a statement of intent to support 
partnership working with the police and other 
fire and rescue services.  

We are continuing to actively explore 
opportunities to form strategic alliances with key 
partners from not just other emergency services 
but also public and private sector bodies where 

there are clear mutual benefits.

The achievements section of this document 
outlines some excellent examples of 
collaboration and we intend to build upon 
these successes going forward.

Page 59



28 Section 4 - Our Focus

AREA SIX: OUR PEOPLE, OUR WAY
We want our people to be highly skilled, agile, motivated and safe at work.

We have six clear areas we will be focusing on over the next three years

Workforce sustainability
We will ensure we have 
the capacity, structure 

and sustainability to 
meet current and future 

business needs.

Outstanding leadership
We will develop our 
leaders so they can 

perform well in a 
managerial, strategic 

and political role 
and work effectively 

in collaboration/
partnership with others.

Talent management and 
development

We will develop a clear, 
consistent, structured 
and sustainable talent 
management process 

which will help the service 
identify and make the best 

use of its talent across all 
areas of the business.

Positive working 
environment

We will work to support 
the ongoing development 

of a positive, inclusive 
culture that encourages 
continuous improvement 
of our service in line with 

our vision and values.

Operational excellence
We will support our 

people to achieve the 
highest possible level of 
professional standards 

by equipping our teams 
with the necessary 

skills, knowledge and 
understanding so they 

can fulfil the vast range 
of operational and non-
operational demands
placed upon them.

OUR MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL PLAN
At a time when we, along with other 
public-sector organisations, face an 
uncertain future, it is essential we have 
an effective medium term financial plan 
in place.

This will allow us to work towards 
balancing the budget over the medium 
term, taking account of our expenditure 
and of future central and local funding.

Our medium term financial plan for 
2017/2018 to 2019/2020 is set out in the 
table.

It has been calculated based on the 
assumption that council tax will increase 
by 1.90% in 2018/19 and 2019/20.

Work is ongoing to identify aditional 
savings through our service 
transformation programme to eliminate 
the budget shortfall. 

SECTION 5 - FINANCE

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2017/18 – 2019/20 
(Based on a 1.9% per annum council tax increase)

Net Expenditure

Total Government Funding 

Local Non Domestic Rates

Council Tax

Surplus on Collection Fund

Total Funding

Shortfall

2017/18

£M

27.805

9.949

1.345

16.367

0.144

27.805

0

2018/19

£M

27.704

9.426

1.388

16.851

0

27.665

-0.039

2019/20

£M

28.411

9.202

1.438

17.358

0

27.998

-0.413

Wellbeing and reward
We will enable our people 

to be the best they can 
be.  We will provide a 

safe working environment, 
effective training, support 
for fitness and wellbeing 

and reward positive 
performance.

Page 60



29Section 6 - Consultation

WHY DO WE CONSULT?
As a public funded body, it is essential we seek the views of the people we serve.
The purpose of our consultation is twofold:

• To ask for views on the highlights from this document (a separate condensed version of this 
document is available for this purpose) 

• To check as a service we are focusing on what matters to the people we serve

During our annual consultation exercise we aim to 
consult with a representative sample of the community 
we serve.
This means consulting with approximately 1065 
members of the community across County Durham and 
Darlington.
This quantity is to ensure the sample size is robust which 
means we can be confident in the findings of the 
consultation and is based upon the population size of 
our service area.
By consulting with 1065 people our confidence level 
will be 95% with a 3% confidence interval which means 
we can rely on the accuracy of the findings of our 
consultation.  
It is important we consult with a good sample of 
the community we serve.  This means we consider 
geographical (where they live) and demographic 
(gender, age, ethnicity etc) information of the 
respondent when we consult. 

HOW DO WE CONSULT?
At the end of every year we carry out a brief 
survey. 
This years survey asks key questions and is 
available to complete:
• On our website
• On our Facebook page
• At our safe & wellbeing visits
• At public events and meetings.

We consult over a period of 12 weeks with 
the results available in March.

Page 61



30 Section 6 - consultation

WHAT DO WE WANT TO KNOW?
Each respondent is asked to provide an answer to six key questions:

QUESTION 1: How satisfied are you with our Safer County Durham and Darlington plan?

Very Dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither Satisfied Very Satisfied

QUESTION 2: How satisfied are you with the service provided by CDDFRS?

If you feel dissatisfied, please explain why

Very Dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither Satisfied Very Satisfied

If you feel dissatisfied, please explain why

QUESTION 3: How satisfied are you that you are well informed of the work CDDFRS is doing?

Very Dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither Satisfied Very Satisfied

Please explain your response

QUESTION 4: How satisfied are you that CDDFRS deal with what matters to you?

Very Dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neither Satisfied Very Satisfied

If you feel dissatisfied, please explain why

Page 62



31Section 6 - Consultation

QUESTION 5: Overall what is your perception of CDDFRS?

Very Poor Poor Neutral Good Very Good

QUESTION 6: How safe do you feel living in County Durham & Darlington?

If your perception is poor, please explain why

Very Unsafe Unsafe Neither Safe Very Safe

If you don’t feel safe please explain why

Page 63



Page 64



Safer and Stronger Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

15 January 2018

Quarter Two 2017/18
Performance Management Report

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council

Purpose of the Report
1 To present progress against the council’s corporate performance framework

for the Altogether Safer priority theme for the second quarter of the 2017/18
financial year.

Background
2 This year, the Sustainable Community Strategy, setting out the vision for the

county, and supporting Council Plan and service plans are due for review.
With a strong commitment to progressing the council’s transformation
programme, driven by a focus on delivering the best possible outcomes within
available resources, Cabinet agreed that an outcome based approach to
planning is adopted. 2017/18 is a transition year as we review our vision,
planning framework and associated performance management arrangements
to ensure that they operate efficiently and are fit for purpose in the current
climate.

Performance Reporting Arrangements for 2017/18
Key Performance Questions

3 Our performance reporting arrangements have been developed around a
series of key performance questions aligned to the Altogether framework of
six priority themes, and are designed to facilitate greater scrutiny of
performance. The set of performance measures provides an indication to help
answer these questions for those with corporate governance responsibilities.
Development of performance reporting will continue throughout the year in
particular to enhance reporting of qualitative aspects of performance as
highlighted by the 2016 Ofsted inspection.

4 There are other areas of performance that are measured through more detailed
monitoring across service groupings and if performance issues arise, these will
be escalated for consideration by including them in the corporate report on an
exception basis.

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



5 The performance indicators are still reported against two indicator types which
comprise of:
(a) Key target indicators – targets are set for indicators where

improvements can be measured regularly and where improvement can
be actively influenced by the council and its partners; and

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set
for indicators which are long-term and/or which the council and its
partners only partially influence.

6 This report sets out our key performance messages from data released this
quarter and a visual summary for the Altogether Safer priority theme that
presents key data messages from the new performance framework showing
the latest position in trends and how we compare with others.

7 A comprehensive table of all performance data is presented in Appendix 3. An
explanation of symbols used and the groups we use to compare ourselves is
in Appendix 2.

8 To support the complete indicator set, a guide is available which provides full
details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate
indicator set. This is available to view either internally from the intranet or can
be requested from the Corporate Planning and Performance Team at
performance@durham.gov.uk.

Key Performance Messages from Data Released this Quarter
9 Positive progress is evident across some key safer measures. Anti-social

behaviour (ASB) continues to decrease, with fewer incidents reported to the
council and police. The number of first time entrants to the Youth Justice
System (aged 10 -17 years) has fallen and remains better than target. There
have been fewer child sexual exploitation referrals than last year.

10 Four issues to highlight this quarter are:
(a) crime rate;
(b) arson and secondary fires;
(c) road safety;
(d) successful completions of drug and alcohol treatment.

11 A key issue that continues relates to the level of recorded crime. Crime figures
show a significant increase in the number of recorded crimes compared with
the same period last year. April to September 2017 has seen a 48% increase
from the same period last year with the number of recorded crimes rising from
16,782 to 24,781. Durham’s recorded crime rate is 47.7 (per 1,000
population), higher than the rate of 32.3 for the same period last year. 41 of
43 police forces have shown an increase and at August Durham Constabulary
had the third highest rate of increase. The majority of the increase in police
recorded crime was mainly due to changes in recording practice in order that
the police are compliant with the national crime-recording standard.

Page 66



The percentage of alcohol related anti-social behaviour incidents and violent
crimes have increased slightly although the number of alcohol related violent
crimes have increased by 65% and alcohol related anti-social incidents have
decreased by 11.7%. Nationally, figures released from the Office for National
Statistics (ONS) show that the number of crimes recorded annually in England
and Wales has passed the five million mark for the first time in 10 years, rising
by 13% for the 12 months until June 2017. Violent crime rose by 19%, with
rises in offences including stalking and harassment.

12 As highlighted in the last report, local data have revealed that there has been
a significant increase in arson offences in County Durham. April to September
2017 shows a 93% increase from 189 to 365 offences, compared to the same
period last year (see appendix 4, chart 1). There has been a particular issue
in the east of the county and the police, fire service and council are working
together on a number of initiatives including Operation Valdis (police seizure
of unregistered, abandoned vehicles) with the aim of reducing deliberate fires
across the county.

13 A performance issue highlighted this quarter is the number of people killed or
seriously injured in road traffic accidents, which increased by 12% during
January to June 2017 compared to the same period last year, although the
number of children and fatalities has decreased. The introduction of a new
national electronic system for recording road traffic collisions has changed the
way casualty severity is ranked, increasing the number reported by an
average of 20%. Work is ongoing to gather and act on local issues including
problem junctions, speeding issues, parking, congestion etc.

14 Although successful completions of those in drug and alcohol treatment are
still below target and national averages, significant work has been undertaken
in relation to performance of these completions and an improving direction of
travel has been evident (see appendix 4, charts 2 to 4). A procurement
exercise to appoint a new drug and alcohol treatment provider is ongoing with
the new service to be launched from February 2018.

Risk Management

15 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda.  The
council’s risk management process sits alongside our change programme and
is incorporated into all significant change and improvement projects.

16 The key risk in delivering the ambitions of this priority theme and how we are
managing it is; a service failure of Adult Safeguarding leads to death or
serious harm to a service user. Management consider it possible that this risk
could occur which, in addition to the severe impacts on children, will result in
serious damage to the council’s reputation and to relationships with its
safeguarding partners. To mitigate the risk, actions are taken forward from
Serious Case Reviews and reported to the Local Safeguarding Children
Board. Lessons learned are fed into training for front line staff and regular
staff supervision takes place. This risk is long term and procedures are
reviewed regularly (Critical / Possible).

Page 67



Key Data Messages by Altogether Theme
17 The next section provides a one-page summary of key data messages for the

Altogether Safer priority theme. The format1 of the Altogether theme provides
a snap shot overview aimed to ensure that key performance messages are
easy to identify. The Altogether theme is supplemented by information and
data relating to the complete indicator set, provided at Appendix 3.

1 Images designed by Freepik from Flaticon

Page 68



P
age 69



Recommendations and reasons
18 That the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

receive the report and consider any performance issues arising there with.

Contact: Jenny Haworth
Tel: 03000 268071

Appendix 1: Implications
Appendix 2: Report Key
Appendix 3: Summary of key performance indicators
Appendix 4:   Volume measures

Page 70



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance - Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service
and financial planning.

Staffing - Performance against a number of relevant corporate health Performance
Indicators (PIs) has been included to monitor staffing issues.

Risk - Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated
into the quarterly monitoring report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Corporate health PIs are
monitored as part of the performance monitoring process.

Accommodation - Not applicable

Crime and Disorder - A number of PIs and key actions relating to crime and disorder
are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Human Rights - Not applicable

Consultation - Not applicable

Procurement - Not applicable

Disability Issues - Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the
performance monitoring process.

Legal Implications - Not applicable

Page 71



Appendix 2: Report key

Performance Indicators:

Direction of travel/benchmarking Performance against target

 Performance is good or better than comparable benchmark
 Performance is poor or worse than comparable benchmark
↔ Performance has remained static or is in line with comparable benchmark

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities
varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils, for example
educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste
disposal is compared to district and unitary councils.

North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the
North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, Hartlepool,
Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and
Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, Sunderland, The number of
authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils.

Nearest Neighbour Benchmarking:
The nearest neighbour model was developed by the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), one of the professional accountancy bodies in
the UK. CIPFA has produced a list of 15 local authorities which Durham is
statistically close to when you look at a number of characteristics. The 15 authorities
that are in the nearest statistical neighbours group for Durham using the CIPFA
model are: Barnsley, Wakefield, Doncaster, Rotherham, Wigan, Kirklees, St Helens,
Calderdale, Dudley, Northumberland, Tameside, Sheffield, Gateshead, Stockton-On-
Tees and Stoke-on-Trent.

We also use other neighbour groups to compare our performance.  More detail of
these can be requested from the Corporate Planning and Performance Team at
performance@durham.gov.uk.

Same or better than comparable
period/comparator group GREEN Meeting/Exceeding target

Worse than comparable period /
comparator group (within 2%
tolerance)

AMBER
Getting there - performance
approaching target (within
2%)

Worse than comparable period /
comparator group (greater than
2%)

RED
Performance >2% behind
target

Page 72



Appendix 3: Summary of Key Performance Indicators

Table 1: Key Target and Tracker Indicators

Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

Altogether Safer
1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?

82 CYPS
35

First time entrants to
the youth justice
system aged 10 to
17 (per 100,000
population of 10 to
17 year olds) [2]

142
Apr -
Sep
2017

291 186 GREEN 357 Not
comparable 413**

Not
compara

ble
2015/16

83 AHS
24

Overall crime rate
(per 1,000
population) [2]

47.7
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 32.3 RED 34.73 Not
comparable 35.6**

Not
compara

ble

Apr -
Aug 17

84 AHS
25

Rate of theft
offences (per 1,000
population) [2]

14.0
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 11.6 RED 11.5 Not
comparable 13.8**

Not
compara

ble

Apr -
Aug
2017

85 AHS
26

Proportion of all
offenders (adults and
young people) who
re-offend in a 12
month period

32
Oct -
Dec
2015

Tracker New
indicator NA 29.6 RED 35.9* GREEN

Oct -
Dec
2015

P
age 73



Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

86 CYPS
36

Proven re-offending
by young people
(who offend) in a 12
month period (%)

45.8
Oct -
Dec
2015

Tracker New
Indicator NA 41.8 RED 48.6* GREEN

Oct -
Dec
2015

2. How effective are at tackling Anti-Social Behaviour?

87 AHS
27

Dealing with
concerns of ASB and
crime issues by the
local council and
police [1] [2] [7]

58.2 Jul 16 -
Jun 17 Tracker 60.9 RED No Data NA 58.5**

Not
compara
ble

Jan -
Dec
2016

88 AHS
28a

Number of police
reported incidents of
anti-social behaviour
[2]

8,327
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 9,812 GREEN No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

89 AHS
28b

Number of council
reported incidents of
anti-social behaviour

5,617
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 5,741 GREEN No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

3. How well do we reduce misuse of  drugs and alcohol?

90 AHS
31

Percentage of
successful
completions of those
in alcohol treatment

29.3

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

38.7 24.5 GREEN 38.7 RED 33.2* RED

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

P
age 74



Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

91 AHS
32

Percentage of
successful
completions of those
in drug treatment -
opiates

6.5

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

8.3 5.7 GREEN 6.7 RED 5.4* GREEN

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

92 AHS
33

Percentage of
successful
completions of those
in drug treatment -
non-opiates

30.2

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

46.3 22.9 GREEN 37.1 RED 29.2* GREEN

Mar
2016 -

Feb
2017

with rep
to Aug
2017

93 AHS
29

Percentage of anti-
social behaviour
incidents that are
alcohol related

17.1
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 16.4 RED No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

94 AHS
34a

Percentage of
secondary school
pupils who drink
alcohol (Most
Weekends / Every
weekend / Every
Day)

13.0

2017
survey

(snapsh
ot Jan -

Apr
2017)

Tracker 13.3 GREEN No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

P
age 75



Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

95 AHS
34b

Percentage of
Secondary School
pupils who have
taken any illegal
drugs, including
cannabis or NPS
(formerly known as
legal highs)

5.9

2017
survey

(snapsh
ot Jan -

Apr
2017)

Tracker New
indicator NA No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

96 AHS
30

Percentage of violent
crime that is alcohol
related

25.3
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 24.9 AMBER No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

97 AHS
36 Alcohol seizures 469

Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 771 NA No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?

98 AHS
35

Building resilience to
terrorism (self
assessment). Scored
on level 1 (low) to 5
(high)

3 2016/17 Tracker 3 GREEN No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

99 CYPS
34

Number of child
sexual exploitation
referrals [2] 166 Oct 16 -

Sep 17 Tracker 192 NA No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

P
age 76



Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

5. How  do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?

100 RED
PI44

Number of people
killed or seriously
injured in road traffic
accidents

94
Jan -
Jun

2017
Tracker 84 RED No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

Number of fatalities 8 13 NA NA NA
Number of seriously
injured 86 71 NA NA NA

101 RED
PI45

Number of children
killed or seriously
injured in road traffic
accidents

7
Jan -
Jun

2017
Tracker 9 GREEN No Data NA No Data NA

No
Period

Specifie
d

Number of fatalities 0 0 NA NA NA
Number of seriously
injured 7 9 NA NA NA

[1] Previous period data amended /refreshed
[2] Data 12 months earlier amended/refreshed
[7] A confidence interval applies to the survey results

P
age 77



Table 2 - Other additional relevant indicators

Ref PI ref Description Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Data 12
months
earlier

Performance
compared to
12 months

earlier

Performance
compared to

National figure

Performance
compared to *North

East or
**Nearest statistical

neighbour figure

Period
covered

Altogether Better for Children and Young People
1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Early Help services appropriately supported?

34 AHS3

Alcohol specific
hospital admissions
for under 18's (rate
per 100,000)

67.5
2013/14

-
2015/16

Tracker 72.8 GREEN 37.4 RED 66.9* AMBER 2013/14 -
2015/16

35 AHS4

Young people aged
10-24 admitted to
hospital as a result of
self-harm

489.4
2011/12

-
2013/14

Tracker 504.8 GREEN 367.3 RED 532.2* GREEN

England
2011/12-
2013/14

NE -
2010/11-
2012/13

Altogether Healthier
1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?

68 AHS11

Suicide rate (deaths
from suicideand injury
of undetermined
intent) per 100,000
population

15.7 2013 -
2015 Tracker 14.8 RED 10.1 RED 12.4* RED 2013 -

2015

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?

76 AHS16

Percentage of
individuals who
achieved their desired
outcomes from the
adult safeguarding
process

96.3
Apr -
Sep
2017

Tracker 94.9 GREEN NA NA No Period
Specified

P
age 78



Appendix 4:  Volume Measures

Chart 1: Arson incidents Chart 2:Successful completions: Alcohol

Chart 3: Successful completions: Opiates Chart 4: Successful completions: Non Opiates

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

15 January 2018

Safe Durham Partnership Update

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Corporate Director of 
Transformation & Partnerships

Purpose of the Report
1 To provide members of the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee with a summary update on key issues discussed at the 
November 2017 Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) Board meeting and related 
issues.

Local Government Association (LGA) Peer Review Action Plan 

2 A team of peers led by the LGA visited Durham on 5th – 7th September 2017 
to visit projects and talk to key people about how the Partnership works to 
make a difference to local people. They worked as ‘critical friends’ to support 
the SDP in reflecting on and improving practice by providing an external view 
of progress.

3 The key areas of focus for the review were:

 Can the SDP involve communities more?
 Can the SDP do more to focus on preventative work?
 Provide advice in relation to progressing SDP priorities 

4 The peer team highlighted a number of key strengths of the Safe Durham 
Partnership including effective multi-agency problem solving, empowerment to 
make changes at a local level, and strong relationships between partners. 

5 The peer review found that strong partnership culture is displayed and the 
partnership encourages innovation, internal challenge and openness to 
change.  The relationship between the Safe Durham Partnership and Safer 
Stronger Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee was identified as a 
strength.

6 Area Action Partnerships were identified as a key strength with strong, 
consistent and ongoing relationships with communities.

7 Some areas for development were also highlighted by the peer review and 
key actions have been identified to progress these areas to improve the 
partnership, some examples of this are set out below.

Page 81

Agenda Item 13



8 Organisations will look to develop a joint communications and marketing plan 
to co-ordinate community safety key messages to the public and ensure 
consistent messages are delivered across the Safe Durham Partnership. 
Those organisations which have successfully used social media channels as 
an opportunity to engage with the public will share their expertise with 
partners. 

9 Strong relationships across the wider County Durham Partnership will be 
utilised to address community safety priorities which could mutually benefit 
work in other areas. For example, tackling financial abuse is a priority for the 
Safeguarding Adults Board, and protecting businesses from fraud and 
reputational damage is important for the Economic Partnership, and these 
things fall within the Cybercrime work of the Safe Durham Partnership. 
Working together would help to make this work as efficient and effective as 
possible. 

10 Hate crime is an area that is felt to be under-reported.  The Safe Durham 
Partnership Peer Review identified a need to engage more with communities 
and encourage individuals and third parties to report incidents of Hate Crime. 
People are encouraged to report tensions in communities to give authorities 
an understanding of the impact that conflict may have on our local 
communities and help them to shape the response.  Currently most of the 
tension monitoring reports originate from Durham County Council and 
Durham Constabulary.   The Tension Monitoring toolkit will be reviewed in 
2018 and relaunched, encouraging reporting so that any trends or areas of 
concern can be highlighted and actions put in place to address the issues.

Transforming Care in the North East and Cumbria: Criminal Justice Briefing

11 The Winterbourne View scandal involved revelations of a pattern of serious 
physical and psychological abuse of people with learning disabilities at a 
private hospital in 2011. The subsequent inquiry resulted in a national 
programme aimed at reducing reliance on long stay learning disability 
hospitals. 

12 In 2015 the North East and Cumbria became a fast track area for 
Transforming Care for people with a learning disability. In November the Safe 
Durham Partnership received a presentation on the Transforming Care 
Programme’s aims to improve the lives of children, young people and adults 
with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviours that challenge, 
including those with a mental health condition.

13 The aim of transforming care is for commissioners to provide services in the 
community that meet the needs of individuals to prevent lengthy and 
avoidable admissions to hospital and also to support individuals to move out 
of hospital into the community. This move of complex individuals into the 
community can present challenges and risks but the presentation helped to 
show what support networks and risk management is in place to support such 
transitions.

Page 82



14 The Board discussed ways in which Safe Durham Partnership partners can 
support individuals and communities to facilitate integration of those patients 
who have been involved with the criminal justice system who have 
challenging complex needs, into community based services. 

Student Voice Survey Findings

15 The SDP was presented with summary findings from the Student Voice 
Survey of over 9,000 pupils from 97 Primary Schools (aged 9-11 years) and 
20 Secondary Schools (aged 11-18 years) in County Durham. 

16 The Children and Families Partnership commissioned the survey to seek the 
views of children and young people in County Durham on a range of relevant 
issues to assist both partners and schools in the development of an evidence 
base to assist service development. 

17 Of interest to the SDP are issues highlighted in relation to bullying, feeling 
safe, and feeling safe online, use of social media by primary school pupils and 
alcohol and drug use by secondary school pupils. Some examples of 
significant results are provided below. 

 Primary schools (pupils aged 9-11 years)

o 18.3% of pupils don’t always feel safe in the classroom
o 34.2% of pupils don’t always feel safe when around the school
o 93% of primary school students said that they know where to go 

in school for help if they were to feel unsafe.
o 32% of pupils don’t always feel safe outside of school
o 96.2% of primary school students use the internet outside of 

school.
o 79.1% of students have their own mobile phone
o Despite an age limit of 13, social media use is high – Snapchat 

50.1%, WhatsApp 48.0%, Instagram 46.0%

 Secondary schools (pupils aged 11-18 years)

o 19.3% of pupils and don’t always feel safe in the classroom.
o 24.9% of pupils don’t always feel safe when around the school
o 21.9% of pupils don’t always feel safe outside of school
o Free text comments identified age related concerns, particularly 

older students bullying younger students, and fear of physical 
violence as reasons for students feeling unsafe

o Just under half of students (48.6%) have chatted online with 
someone they have never met in person

o Almost one in ten (9.8%) have been asked to answer personal 
questions

o One in twenty (5.7%) have been asked to send pictures or 
videos of themselves and 3.1% said the pictures or videos were 
personal.

Page 83



o 55.1% of secondary school students have tried alcohol at least 
once by the time they are in year 9 (13 and 14 years old); by the 
time they are in year 11 (15 and 16 years old) this rises to 
77.8%.

o 67.6% of students got the alcohol from a parent/carer with 
permission.

o Across all age groups, 5.9% of secondary school pupils have 
taken illegal drugs.

18 Schools have received their individual results and countywide results for 
benchmarking so that they can address specific issues. An action plan is 
being developed to ensure that the issues raised in the survey are addressed 
by partners. 

Victims and Witness Group

19 The Durham and Darlington Victims and Witnesses Group (VWG) is a sub-
group of the Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal Justice Partnership Board 
(LCJPB). The VWG works in partnership to ensure victims and witnesses 
receive end to end, co-ordinated care and support that enables them to cope 
and recover from their experience and participate in Criminal Justice 
Processes.

20 The group is reviewing support and communications with the overall aim of 
ensuring victims are fully supported through the criminal justice process and 
are able to give their best evidence as required. It is exploring ways to 
improve Victim Personal Statements by training partners who may be better 
placed to take the statement, and exploring improvements in relation to the 
process for hearing them in court. 

21 Work to develop a performance management framework is underway, and the 
group supports the restorative justice work carried out in Durham and 
Darlington to ensure that at any stage of a victim’s journey they have access 
to high quality restorative justice.

Recommendations and reasons
22 The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

recommended to:

(i) Note the contents of the report. 

Contact:  Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager, Policy, Planning and Partnerships   
Tel:       03000 267312

Page 84



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A

Accommodation– N/A

Crime and Disorder– The Safe Durham Partnership update provides an overview of 
reports and discussions from the Safe Durham Partnership Board meetings.

Human Rights– N/A

Consultation– N/A

Procurement– N/A

Disability Issues– N/A

Legal Implications– N/A

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held 31 October 2017
	7 County Durham Road Safety Partnership:
	8 20mph Speed Limits and Project Update:
	9 Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) Three-Year Plan Consultation:
	150118-SS-CT-Item9-IRMP-App2

	10 Quarter 2 2017/18 Performance Management Report:
	13 Safe Durham Partnership Update:

